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The author of the Early History of Ambler was born in
Horsham, Montgomery County. She was the daughter of William
Y. Hallowell, who tilled three huudred acres of land in Horsham
township where her ancestors settled in 1724. Dr. Hough at-
tended the Friends school at Horsham, graduated from Swarth-
more College in 1878, and entered the Women’s Medical College
of Philadelphia where she received her diploma in 1881. For a
period of six months after her graduation, the author was an in-
terne at the Staten Island Ilospital of New York, and in 1886
married Dr. C. B. Ilough of Bucks County. They moved to
Ambler immediately, and after practicing for a period of fifty
years Dr. Mary IHough retired in 1931. She is a life long member
of the Society of Friends.






PREFACE

The publication of the Early History of Ambler
was made possible through the untiring cfforts of
the author, Dr, Mary P. H. Hough. She made many
journeys to Philadelphia and searched the records in
City Hall for information concerning Ambler. At
first, her interest was a ‘‘hobby,’”’ but later it de-
veloped into a keen desire to preserve for posterity
important happenings in the life of the community.
Many of the old residents assisted with important
data, but most of the work was done by the Doctor.
Early in 1935, the editor and publisher of the Ambler
News read a number of her manuscripts and pre-
vailed upon the author to publish her writings in
serial form, which covered about one year. IHaving
many requests for the history in book form, it was
decided to publish such a volume in 1936. Our con-
tacts with the author were inspiring and refreshing.
Dr. Hough, graced her profession admirably, and
thoroughly demonstrated her unselfishness by giving
her writings for the benefit of every one and proved
conclusively that she was a credit to womanhood.
Dr. Mary P. H. Hough is loved and held in high es-
teem by all.

HARRY HELLAR KELLY,
Publisher.






THE HARMER FAMILY

The early history of a part of the
locality in Montgomery county now
the borough of Ambler is intimately
associated with the life of William
Harmer who was the first owner of
the ground which is now the
borough.

He erected on it the first grist
mill. He was first to till its sofl, and
to create within its limits the first
industry—a fulling mill, whereby
his family and the scttlers of tho
surrounding country could he pro-
vided with clothing and blankets
for their comfort and protection,

Willlam Harmer was the son of
George Harmer, of Mouden, in the
Parish of Reborem, \Wiltshire,
England, who in 1682 with several
Quaker colonists emigrated to
America for the purpose of estab-
lishing a home in a country where
religious freedom was tolerated.

It 18 presumed that he was a man
of influence and property judging
from his activities and purchases
in the new land.

A record of a deed informs that
he bought 2560 acres of land for 8
pounds “in pensilvania, 12 miles
northward of New Castle Towne."”

Another record reads that in 1715
he owned an area of 130 acres in
Philadelphia in the locality ot
Chestnut Hfil.

It 18 however his ownership of
the land now the Borough of Am-
bler that interests those who en-
Joy the study of local history.

This purchase called for 408
acres recefved by Patent from Wm.
Penn in 1682 and covered all the
locality now the Borough with the
exception of a fraction of an acre
at Rose Valley. It extended from
the Morris road to Gwynedd line,

In Holmes' map of original sur-
veys published in London about
1682 the locality of the Borough
of Ambler s identified by the
names of two brothers, George and
William Harmer as the owners.

Bean says in his history of the
County that of the 13 persons
whose names appear on his map,
the Harmers were probably the
only ones who were not land specu-

Iators, but made their purchase for
the purpose of establishing a home
thercon.

Edward Matthews, a local nlis-
torian and authority on Jand titles,
tells us that after a short owner-
ship, the Harmers sold their land
to thoe Whitpains. However, the
Harmers continwed to live on ths
land and make improvements, and
fn 17156° the 408 acre tract was
bought back from John and Ann
Whitpain for 200 pounds.

In the following year, Wm. Har-
mer was the sole owner of this
land by the assignment of his bro-
ther's ghare to him.

We have no record that Wm.
Harmer built a “block-house” of de-
fense against the savage Indian,
who lived in the locality, nor do we
have any record that he was on
anything but friendly relations
with the Red Man, and undoubted-
ly the Indian, because of the kind-
ness he received, lovked on Mr.
Harmer as a new brother.

Wm. Harmer was in quest of
abundant food and liberty, and de-
sired to live in peace with all men;
his time and energies were not
wasted in fighting the native sav-
ages or hunting for gold, but in-
stead were spent in cultivating his
land and making permanent im-
provements for the comfort of him-
self and his family.

The Harmers were members of
Gwynedd Friends Meeting. Wm.
Harmer's name frequently appears
on the records of the meeting. A
side-light of his personality {8
shown on these records in his ap-
pointment to various committees.
In 1731, he was appointed by the
meeting to draw up a certificate
for a member who had the prospect
of travelling to the Barbadoes on a
religious visit.

It is presumed that he was trust-
worthy and upright as far as chav-
acter goes; his name frequently ap-
pears on legal papers and docu-
ments requiring the signature of a
reliable person.

Willlam Harmer was one of tho
first who, after the country was
settled, advocated the laying out



of roads or cart-ways in the new
land. A petition to the Court,
which bhears his signature, states:
‘“for want of roads we labor under
great difficulties and hardships, for
what 18 more necessary than a con-
venient road to places of worship
and to mills and market?"

It is presumed that he was un-
gelfish by nature and did not seek
a monoply of business, a% is evl-
denced by a petition to the court,
asking to have a certain road con-
firmed. The petition read *“in
order that the inhabitants might
reach the mill of David Williams
of Plymouth, the mill was built on
a spring which neither the draughts
of summer or the winter frosts
hindered from supplying the neigh-
bors with grinding when all or
most of the other mills are dor-
mant during the aforesaid extremi-
ties of weather. Our mill and others
being so supplied in times of such
necessity lays under great difficul-
ties too frequent at said mill and
desires that convenlent roads to
the mill might he settled by au-
thority.”

In the year 1716, William Harm-
er's signature again appears on a
petition to the Court for an road
from Gwynedd Mecting House to
Plymouth Meeoting that the same
might be settled by authority. The
road was laid out, but some Iin-
habitants continued to plow it up
and use the land for farming.

Wm. Harmer died shortly after
making his will in 1731. He men-
tioned in his will his eight chil-
dren, bhut little or no information
concerning them or thelr descen-
dants is known, However, from a
deed dated 1733, now in the posses-
sion of Anne Detwiler, we learn
that nhis entire property of 408
acres was sold to Morris Morris.
He and his sons, Daniel and Samuel
Morris, held title to this property
from 1733 to 1769, when Daniel
Morris died.

One of the large tracts sold was
that of 94 acres, on which was the
mill erected by Willlam Harmer,
This tract was in the Southwest-
ern part of the Borough near the
Wissahickon Creek, and was sold

in 1771 to Joseph Morris, who held
title until 1776, when he sold the

lJand to Joseph Detwiler, from
whom the present owner s des-
cended.

Wil of Willlam Harmer

1 give unto my wife, Ruth, my
best feather bed and furniture, my
two best pewter dishes, two pew-
ter plates, two spoons, brass ket-
tle. [ also give to my said wife a
black walnut chest, with drawers
under it, whereof she shall be pos-
sessed during her life only.

I give the same chest after my
wife's decease unto my daughter,
Ruth Thomson, and I give and de-
vise to my son John Harmer and
his heirs and assigns forever all
that tract of 100 acres of land and
improvements whereon my son
John is seated in Upper Dublin
aforesafd, and I give and bequeath
unto my son John, the sum of 25
Ihs. pensylvania, to he pald one
vear after my decease towards
completeing the house already be-
gun on the same land. And 1T will
that out of my other estate the
same 100 acres of land shall be
cleared of all encumbrances it now
lles under in the general loan of-
fice. And I also give and bequeatb
unto my son my servant lad,
named John Mackleway, and ¥
hereby nominate my trusty friends
Richard Martin of the city of Phila.,
and Matthias Aspdin of the Co. of
Phila. a merchant, my executor and
trusty friends and nelghbors John
Jones carpenter. and John Bartho-
lomow, my trustee and for the het-
ter payment of my just debts,
funeral expenses and legacies, I do
hereby arthorize my safd executors
with the assistance of my trustees
to sell and convey and sell all and
every part of my lands to any per-
son that may purchase the same
and to put the overplus money at
interest, the yearly interest of
which shall be paid to her for her
support. I give and bequeath the
principal sum aforesaid to be equal-
ly divided among my eight chil-
dren, share and share alike.

And whereas my son-in-law
Philip Williams, fuller, hath hereto-
fore had the use of my fulling mill



3 years and 6 months, for which
there is justly due me the sum of
68 1bs. pensylvania money, now my
will is that if the said Philip Wil-
ltams shall after my decease make
any demands aguinst my estate and
demand payment of such demand-
able debts or debt, then and in
such case the 68 lbs. rent shall be
demanded and insisted upon or
otherwise if the said Philip Wil-
Hams shall not make any such de-
mands that then the rent shall not
be demanded of him.

Much confusion has arisen con.
cerning the Morris family, who
were the owners of this large acre-
ageo of the Borough in its early
years.

No relativnship exfisted between
Mocris Morris and Joseph Morrls,
the later owner. The former was
thy son of Evan Morris, who emi-
grated from Wales and settled In
Richland, Bucks County. Joseph
Morris was a descondant of An-
thony who was of English descent,
and settled in Burlington, N. J.

Valuable records exist of the
descendants of both Anthony Mor-
ris and Morris Morris, many of
whom are residents of Ambler
Borough and the surrounding local-
fties in Montgomery County.

The history of the two branches
and their descendants is an inter-
esting story in itself and the part
they played in the life of this com-
munity will be the subject of a
future article.

During these ecarly seventy-five
years, from 1682 when William
Harmer first took possession to
1769 when the sons of Morris Mor-
ris sold it to various purchasers,
the 408 acres were one tract,
sparsely settle? and undivided by
roads.

There 18 no record of any struc-
ture on this tract, excepting tho
grist mill located near the Wissa.
hickon Creek, on the present Butler
Pike, and a fulling mill, located on
a tributary of the Wissahickon near
the present intersection ot Reiff’s
Mill road and Main street, both of
which were erected by Willlam
Harmer.

However, various needs arose,
which led to the laying out ot roads
which cut up this tract. One recad
William Harmer himself erected in
order to connect his mills with the
Bethlehem Pike, which was on the
East of his land, The other roaa
was established for the benefit of
the Quakers who wanted a con-
venient road to their place of wor-
ship which they had established at
Plymouth Meeting in 1712,

Another road came at the re-
quest of John Burk, who owned a
mill on the Wissahickon to the
South of the Harmer tract, Hy,
like William Harmer, alss desired
access to the Bethlehem Pike.

These three roads exist today as
streets in the Ambler Borough.
They are: Mt. Pleasant avenue,
Butler Pike, and Church street, all
of which are connected with the
Bethlehem Pike, then known as the
North Wales Road.

Mt. Pleasant Avenue as now call-
ed, antedates by nine years
the present much travelled Butler
Pike. It was confirmed by the court
in the year 1730 as a public road
in order that the Harmer (fulling
and grist mills might be convenient-
ly reached. Its course as then laid
out by the court is practically the
same as it is today with the excep-
tion of the abandonment of a por-
tion of Reifi’'s Mill Road, a name
by which a part of it was later
known.

Butler Avenue follows the line of
the Butler Road laid out in 1734,
It is still known by its original
name, although it is called by var-
fous names in many of the old
deeds.

Church Street, as now called,
was known as Burk's Road in the
early days. Through the petition of
John Burk it was placed under the
Jurisdiction of the Court as a public
highway in the year 1744.

- MILLS

In the early years of the settle.
ment of the country, the grains
which the inhabitants cultivated on
their plantations were converted
into a form suitable for food at
mills called Grist Mills, erected in



the locality where the people lived.
The zettlers were entirely depend-
ent on the grinding of the mills for
most of their food, because there
was no shipment from distant
points as exists at the present day.

In addition to these grist mills
which provided food, there was
need of saw mills to convert the
timber of the surrounding forests
into lumber for building operations,
and of fulling mills to provide
blankets and clothing for the com-
fort of the people,

Until steam power came into
use, the only way known by the
settlers by which these mills could
be operated was by means of wa-
ter, a power available only on
creeks, or near strong springs of
water, In such localities one or
more mills were to he found., The
location now the incorporated
Borough of Ambler was therefore a
place well suited for the erection
of these mills due to the existence
here of the Wissahickon Crevk
with four tributaries, in addition to
gseveral strong springs of water.
Owing to thase favorable condi-
tions, nine mills, including saw
mills and a clover and fulling mill,
were erected within the limits or
on jts boundary line. These mills
were in active operation for nearly
200 years, and they brought settlers
from far sections of the countr)

and provided them with three
necessities of life: food, shelter,
and clothing. These mills were

known far and wide during the Rev-
olutionary War and helped to sup-
ply the American army with food.

No one thing has given the
Borough the charming experience
like the romance associated with
these nine mills, The old water
whee} 18 sung in song and told in
story and will ever he held sacred
because of {ts associations.

The man who brought the grain
to be ground would be asked by the
miller whether he would pav for it
or toll it, and the answer given
would depend upon the amount of
money ho possessed. This custom
made the following song very
popular;

“Happy s the miller that mills hy
himself,

Happy is he who is the gainer of
his wealth,

Hand in the hopper, and other in
the bag,

The wheel goes around and v
calls out ‘grab’.”

The trip to the mill was usually
made on horse back when the bag
of flour would be thrown over the
horse in front of the rider and
similarlily placed on the return
journey. One record reads, “a man
had a tame bull which performed
this duty.” Another record reads
“a man was in advance of the time
in his method of carrying his grain
to be ground, for he made a wheel
from a tree by means of a saw and
then made a good support for logs,
and a large amount of grain could
thus be carried.”

During the years of their opera-
tion there were few occupations
open to women, Often however,
they could get work at the grist
mills. Mrs. Thomas Kenderdine, a
long time resident of the Borough,
frequent)y earned $5.00 at the local
mill while laboring for two weeks
at odd times. For this amount of
money, she was reqguired to shell
100 bushels of corn, equivalent to
two hay wagons full, a labor
which required her to feed the shell-
er and at the same time turn its
wheel. The same amount of money
was carned by her in preparing the
bolting cloth for sifting purposes
at the mill, This work was most
tedious because the cloth was made
of silk being 24 yards In length,
and required intricate preparation
for its work.

There is romance in the races
with which the locality was dotted.
They were indispensable for opera-
ting the mills, but aside from their
usefulness they added an addition-
al charm. Dams had to be buflt to
convey the water into these
races, These races ended in what
were called forebays, the part of
the mill race where the water fell
upon the wheel. At the forebay
was a slulce gate made ltke a big
paddle, with a lever to raise or



lower it. When {t was raised, the
water would be released and fall
upon the wheel which had large
cups in it. The force of the water
in these would start th- big wheel
which was connected with the shaft
which turned the mill grinder. By
means of the power thus ootained
from the water, the grain would he
pulverized Into flour by the force ot
one stone upon another,

When these mills were in active
operation there was but one road,
known as Reiff's Mill Road, which
gave an outlet to the section of the
country north of Butler avenue, It
was extensively used because it
led to the fulling mill. It was fre-
quently in deeds called “Fulling
Mill Lane.” 1t was also at one time
called “the Dam Road” because the
dam of water was located on it. An
amusing experience of Mrs. Reift
has been handed down to us: she
sald she never recovered from the
humiliation she felt when she was
accused by a stranger of using pro-
fane language when he wished to
be directed to the fulling mfill and
she told him to take ‘the Dam
Road.”

Samuel Shoemaker, a life long
resident, says that thls dam was
very large and covered a piece of
land in extent as large as the pres-
ent Asbestos works and property of
Craft’s conl and lumber yard. It
was surrounded by willow trees
and was cleaned out once in three
vears, As a child, Samuel enjoyed
watching this  performance of
cleaning because of the many var-
feties of fish and animal life visible
when the bottom was reached,

Wallace Mammal, a resident at
this time, relates his experiencs
with this dam. A considerable wa-
terfall was formed where it over-
flowed the race and made consid-
erable noise. Beyond the dam were
two rickety bridges, one covering
the race on Reiff's Mill road and
the other a small creek, the waters
of which were continued to the
mill at the bridge. He safd that the
noise of the waterfall and of tho
two rickety bridges, which he was
obliged to cross every time he came

to the village, unnerved his horsa
8o much that he was scarcely able
to get the horse under control in
time to pay his toll at the toll gate
located on Butler Avenue bétween
Chestnut and Maple streets.

The return journey was even
more hazardous owing to the neces-
sity of crossing the tracks of the
raflroand especially since the road
took a (iagonal course across them.

Although nothing remains today
to mark the places where these
nine mills once stood, their lo:a-
tions are accurately determined by
the wills of the owners, deeds of the
properties, and memorfes of the
oldest inhabitants, To later genera-
tions, they are generally known by
the name of the latest owner.

Their locations as designated in
present day, and later names are
as follows:

1. Plumly Mill, first owned by
\Wm. Harmer, located on the tri-
angular lot at the intersection of
Morris Road and Butler avenue.

2, Fulling Mill, at the intersec-
tion of Main Street and Tennis
Avenue.

3. Thomson Mill on Mt. Pleasant
Avenue.

4. Clover and Chopping and Saw
Mill at the northeast corner of But-
ler Avemie and Spring Garden
Streets.

5. Relff Mill, now 302 Butler Ave-
nue.

6. Wertsner Mill, on the Morris
Road, near Butler Avenue.

7. Hague Mill, on Betiilchoem
Pike near Hague's Mill Road

8. Known as the Burk Miil on
the Morris road near the term::tus
of Church street.

9. Erected a short distanze Iy
vond the Burk Mill which ‘ha:d
gone to decay,” later converted in-
to a sflk mill,

PLUMLEY'S MILL

The first grist mill in the lo-
cality now the Borough of Ambler,
stood on the triangular lot at the
intersection of the Morris road and
Butler avenue. This piece of land
was originally a part of that on
its north from which it was de-
tached when the authorities gave



Butler avenue a straight route at
this location in place of a former
curve which those travelling on
the highway were obliged to take.
This mill was erected by Willilam
Harmer as his will informed us.
We may quory why he selected
this site as the most suitable one
for its erection. We presume that
soon after he made his purchase ot
the tract of 408 acres, he took an
outlay of his land in order to find
the best site on it for his home
and a mill, and that he was quick
to percelve the advantage offered
at Butler ave. and Morris road for
three reasons: First, because a
spring was discovered here which
would give him an abundant supply
of excellent water. Second, as assur-
ance of power whereby he could
operate his mill because of the
close proximity of .ae Wissahick-
on creek and its tributary on the
north. And third, the site was
chosen because of the hill-side, lat-
er known as Detwiler's Hill. This
elevation of ground with the south.
ern exposure would give his mlill
and home some protection from the
wintry blasts.

His first effort was spent in the
erection of his grist miil so that
he could be provided with food,
and fn the meantime or until he
could build a suitable place for
his home, he lived in a cave carv-
ed in the hillgide, as was frequent-
ly done by the early scttlers. The
diary of a contemporary said “We
settled in a cave on ye bank of
ye hill till we could bufld.” We
can picture in our minds the grati-
fication of Wm. Harmer and his
family when they chose this loca-
tion for their home and grist mill
because of theso desirable features.

Evidently William Harmer's chil-
dren had no desire to possess this
land since at his death in 1733,
the entire tract passed to the Mor-
ris family. It was held fntact by
Morris and his sons, Samuel and
Daniel, untll the latter's death in
1769. In these intervening years,
the grist mill was operated by
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Samuel Morris and the Fulling
mill by Daniel Morris.

One can almost live in the social
atmosphere of the Harmer mill dur-
ing its occupancy by Samuel Mor-
ris. We can picture the frequent
visits here of his sister, Sarah,
the third wife ot James Paul, who
owned .the grist mill less than a
half mile south on the Wissahick-
on, and of his nlece Susanna Mor-
ris, the wife of Thomas Mifflin, the
first Governor of Ponnsylvania,
We can imagine the thrills they
felt in those family gatherings
when their mother, Susanna Heath
Morris, took a day off from her
home duties at Hope Lodge, the
famous historic mansion in White-.
marsh, built, some authorities say,
by her son Samuel, and retold
agalp and again, her exciting ex-
perience in a ship wreck in one
of her three voyages made to
foreign countries, which she as a
Quaker minister took for the sake
of her religion. Undoubtedly
these family gatherings were held
often at the old mill. Samuel was
a Royalist during the Revolution.
ary War and had lost many friends
and needed the sympathy of his
family and their companionship.
Samuel, having been jilted by the
one he cared for, remained a
bachelor. He never returned to
Hope Lodge where he intended to
reside after his marriage, but lived
alone in the mill, leaving the man-
sfon to the care of his parents.

In the year 1769, on the death
of Samuel Morris and his brother
Dantiel, the owners of the 408 acres
purchased by Wm, Harmer in 1682,
the land was divided and sold to
various purchasers; and from this
time, the history of the locality be-
comes the history of numerous in-
dividuals who owned parts of this
tract. Eighty-four acres of the
land with the grist mill were sold
to John Stevens of Upper Dublin,
for which he paid 1000 pounds, or
$5,000.

Steven's owned the 84 acres for
fifteen years, or until 1771 when ft
was sold to Joseph Morris who
bought it for his son who intended



to reside on the land after his
marrfage to Elizabeth Dawes.

In 1776, Joseph Detwiler bougit
for $10,000, from Joseph Morrlsg,
the 84 acres on which the grist mill
was located. A short time after Det-
wiler made this purchase, he de-
tached eight acres, the portion on
which the mill stood, with no dwell-
fng house included, and deeded the
same to “Owen Smith,” who had
married his daughter, Eliza. Smith
was unfortunate in his business
transactions, and in the year 184F,
made an assignment to his cred-
ftors, Addison May and l.ewis Jones
who advertised the property for
sale on December 1 of that vear.

This sale bill which is in posses-
sfon of the writer gives a good
description of the mill as it was at
that time. From this description, it
is not likely to have been the one
erected by Wm. Harmer on the
same site, because the early set-
tlers did not bufld their mills with
three stories, However, it zives us
a good description of the mill as it
was over one hundred years ago.
This sale bill reads as follows:

“A valuable merchant and grist
mill sftuated in Upper Dublin
Township, Montgomery Co., at the
junction of the Norristown and Mor-
1ris roads, one mile north east of tho
Broad Axe tavern, and propelled hy
the waters of the Wissahickon
creek, together with 8 acres and 29
perches of land,

*“The mill house {8 a large and com-
modious three story stone Luflding
39 x 48 tt., 2 water wheels, with 12
feet head and fall, 4 run of French
burr mill stones, patent smut ma-
chine, 4 bolting cloths, hopper boy,
flour and grain elevators, hulling
stones, and all other necessary
machinery, in good order and re-
pairs, for doing an extensive mer-
chant or grist business fn an ex-

cellent location for procuring
grain,
“A part of the mill house is

finished for a dwelling, affording 2
comfortable rooms on the second
floor, and 4 on the 3rd floor; stone
barn (nearly new) 25 x 30 ft. with
stabling for 3 horses and 3 cows,

Adjoining the mill house is n never
tafling spring of water and other
out buildings.”

Sheriff Wells sold the property
of \Wm. Earnest and his wife, Lucy,
who remained the owner for iV
years. In 1856, Abraham Fuller,
from Doylestown Township bought
it but wasg only a temporary owner.
It was in the possession of the
Reiff and Detwiler families until
1871 when Edmund Plumly bought
it. By this time, it was shorn of all
the attached lands but the <l
perches—the triangle between the
roads together with the dwellings
on the Southwest corner of the
cross roads. In the year 1880 during
i{ts ownership by Plumly, it was still
doing a good business as we are
informed from an item published
in a Lansdale newspaper which
says “E. Plumly, the proprietor of
the Ambler tlomr mills, removed
the old style hopper and replaced
it with a fan and separator, con.
nected with it which allowed noth-
fng but pure wheat to pass through'

In 1887, Anna Jane Mercer, a res-
ident ot Philadelphia, invested

- largely in real estate in the locality
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and among her purchases was the
land on which the grist mil way
located together with a tract on the
north and opposite to the mill on
which there was a barn. She made
the purchase for the purpose of de-
molishing these two buildings
which to her mind were detrimental
to the beauty of the surroundings.
The loss of the old grist mill which
possessed ‘‘a beauty that was a joy
forever,” was greatly lamented by
those who appreciated the charm
possessed hy these historic sites.
In 1902, Ann Detwiler, a descendant
of an earlier owner, purchased the
lot on which the grist mill had
stood, having made the purchase
for the purpose of destroying the
water right.

The race which supplied the miil
was from the Wissahickon and a
small stream of water which cross-
ed the Morris Road about onse
eighth of a mile above its inteigec-
tion with Butler avenue. The out-



line of this old race can be traced
at the present day.

The history of the old Harmer
mill would be incomplete without
reference to the part it played in
the past in the establishmeni of the
well known rowute of travel known
as the Morris Road, on which it was
situated,

The Road was confirmed by tho
Court in the year 1763 as a public
highway. As itg course was laid out,
it extended from Garret Clement's
Mill in Salford Township to Sam-
uel Morris’ in Upper Dublin. Be-
tween the years 1734 to 1763, the
Court refused several times to
granu it, due to the petitions of
other inhabitants who offered many
objections, One outstanding objec-
tion made by those who opposed tho
laying out of this road was that it
was unnecessary because the Skip-
pack and Bethlehem Pikes were
sufficient to meet the needs of the
people. This protest sent to the
Court was as foliows:

“Whereas the petioners of sd.
Twp. hath here set our hands crav-
ing the honorable Court to see Into
it concerning a Rd. that {s lightly
to go through our township: Where-
as we think it needless and very
troublesome to our township, for yve
said Samuel Morris hath already
a road laid out from his mill to ye
great road of guined, and this not
exceeding a mile and a quarter
from ye great road of Skipay which
run on the same course given, or
12 miles.”

This protest had twenty-seven
signatures and was dated Marzh
1734. In all the protests for this
road which were sent to the Court
fn the years between 1734 and
1763, the end of its route was given
as at Samuel Morris' mill. Althougn
the road was not confirmed until
after the sale of the mill to Jonn
Stevens, it was named for Samuel
Morris because of the efforts he
made to have it laid open to meat
the needs of the inhabitants.

The following incident occurred
at the Plumly Mill in the days when
slavery was a burning question. [t
was authenticated by Thomas Bit-
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ting, a resident of the Borough
when it was incorporated and later
its Postmaster. It has been told in
articles on local history in the fol-
lowing words:

“By the side of the race of the
Plumly Mill, there was a hut occu-
pied by a negro named Black Bill,
In this hut a fugitive slave had
secreted himself. When it became
known, the ofticer of the law arrest-
ed him and took him before the
Squire for commitment to jail or
safe keeping, until his inaster
should come for him and prove his
property. It became noised about
and quite a number of people col-
lected there, among them some
abolitionists, While the magistrate
was preparing the commitment, the
slave, who was lying on the bank
outside of the house, was urged by
the abolitionists to run for his
life and pointed out the direction
for him to take. He at once put oft
with all the effort he could make
toward the Wissahickon Creek,
which was covered on its side with
forests, adding to his safety and
freedom.”

FULLING MILL

Eight of the nine mills which
once existed in the locality now the
Borough of Ambler were operated
for the purpose of grinding the
grains, which, from the standing
of mastication and flavor, could be
greatly improved for food for the
inhabitants and their domestic ani-
mals. However, the mill known as
the Fulling mill was operated for
nearly 160 years, for the sole pur-
pose of converting the sheep's wool
into blankets and materials for
wearing apparel. This prominent -
mill was located at the intersection
of Main Street and Tennis Avenue
as designated at the present day
on the property now owned by
Mrs. Arthur Richard 1Iliff. The
mill stood at the rear or about fifty
feet east of the house which her
family now occuples. It was erect-
ed by Willlam Harmer some time
previous to the year 1728 as we
are informed from the following



clause in his will written in the
year 1731:-

“Whereas my son-in-law Philip
Williams, having heretofore had
the use of my Fulling Mil for three
years and six months, there is due
me the sum of 58 pounds.”

Willlam Harmer's keen insight
ifn business matters can be seen,
as in the case of his grist mill, in
the selection of this site for his
Fulling mill. He found here one
of the strongest springs of water
on his land—a pivotal point to the
early settlers in their selection of
locations for their homes and mills.
This spring was very near the lar-
gest tributary of the Wissahickon
which flowed through his planta-
tion. This tributary gave him un-
usual advantages for the successful
operation of the process of fulling.
First it was fed on its route by sev-
eral springs and thereby gave a
guarantee of freedom from surface
water, one of the essential require-
mentg for washing the wool. Sec-
ondly it had a rapid descent in its
course, and gave a fall of 156 or 16
feet of water from the dam to the
mill. From this fall he was at all
times assured of power to operate
the mill, although much of the
work was done by looms.

We feel confident of the happi-
ness and comfort enjoyed by Wm.
Harmer and his family of eight
children with the assurance of food
and clothing as provided by his
grist and Fulling mill. We have
no information in regard to his
possession of tlie necessities re-
quired in the cultivation of the soil,
the sowing and reaping and the
clearing of the forests.

From the following record, how-
ever, given in James Logan’'s let-
ters and papers to Wm. Penn, and
signed by his Secretary, we are
10ld that he hecame possessed of a
horse fn a manner as therein re-
lated. This record reads as fol-
lows:-

“Being informea by Wm. Harn?er
that a certain stray horse has heen
at his plantation about 4/3 of a year
without having any owner for ye
same, I hereby order that William
Harmer keep the said horse till the
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right owner should claim him, or
till he becomes forfeited by the
Prop.”

We doubt if the owner was ever
found as the rider and owner of
the horse was possibly killed by an
Indian. With this addition to the
possessions of Wm, Harmer, we
can truthfully say, as proved by
available records, that the hupr of
industry in the locality of the Bor-
ough began with a grist mill, a
Fulling mill, and a horse.

Wm. Harmer's executors carried
out the provisfons of his will and
sold the entire tract to Morris Mor-
ris. The latter’s son, Danfel, op-
erated the mill until his death in
1769, referring to his fulling mill
in his will. His wife, Tacy Owen
Morris, was his executrix; and she
sold the mill and 24 acres of the
original tract of 408 acres to Arthur
Bradis, who is listed as the owner
in the tax list of the year 1776.

Arthur Bradis willed the mill and
the 24 acres on which it stood to
his daughter, Mary, the wife of
Isaac Davis. In 1793, she bought
55 additional acres from the heirs
of Daniel McVaugh, who was a
member of the Burk family who
owned an adjoining plantation.
This tract of 55 acres joined the
24 acres which she had inherited
from her father.

The tract of land bhought by
Mary Davis extended to the Bethle.
hem Pike, and Isaac Davis took ad-
vantage of the opportunity offered
for business by the road side on
this much travelled highway and
opened a tavern, or house for the
accommodation of the public, which
later became the private home of
Isaac Ambler, owned in the pres-
ent day by the Hogan family,
Matthews says that a public house
existed here bhetween the years of
17568 and 1772. We do not know
whether this house, the first one
erected in the Borough for public
use, was a stage tavern, which held
the same place in the community
as the large hotels of the present
day, or a wagon stand where team-
sters excluded from the stage
tavern, frequently stayed over night



and slept on a bag of hay on the
floor of the bar room.

A portion of this house shows
evidence of consjderable age. Dur-
ing the days of its popularity as a
stopping place for the public, the
house was situated close to the
Bethlehem Pike, but when the
authorities changed its course as
exjidts today, ils value as a busi-
ness location was damaged and we
presume ft was at that time that
Davis retired from the hotel busi.
nesg and gave his whole time to
the interests of his Fulling Mill.

In the year 1832, Andrew Ambler
became the owner of the Fulling
Mill and the eighty-three acres on
which it was located. He operat-
ed it until his death in 1850. When
he purchased it, the building was
very much out of repair as it had
been in use over 100 years, and he
was obliged to practically rebuild it.
His wifte, and son, Lewis, continued
the business after his death, but
due to more improved methods of
weaving, the amount of work be-
came limited. A Mr. Bringhurst
owned the mill pext, and it was
during his ownership that it was
destroyed by fire on December 31,
1869.

During the years of the Civil
War, many blankets were shipped
from this mill for the use of the
soldiers in the Union Army. Henry
C. Biddle and Thomas Gillin, life-
long residents of the locality, are
in possession of blankets woven in
the Ambler Fulling Mill. The mill
was considered an important item
of industry in the community and

the work usually required the
labor of flve men. At all times,
even in the dullest seasons, two

men were employed to operate the
looms.

The race, which run parallel and
very near the street known as Bel-
mont avenue, supplied the mill with
water. A dam as a reservoir for the
race was located in the meadow a
short distance east of the mill -on
land later the property of Dr. R. V.
Mattison, belonging at an earlier
day to the Hart family. The breast
work of this dam {s still in exist-
ence and is a famous centre for the
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congregations of the boys of the
Borough for their recreations.

The mill was reached from But-
ler avenue first by a lane extend-
ing only to the mill and was called
the Fulling Mill Lane. Later, when
the Reiff family became prominent
in the locality and the country be-
came more thickly settled, the in-
halbitants desired a road to enable
them to reach the country beyond
the mill and the lane, the terminus
of which on Butler avenue was a
short distance east of the bridge,
then became a public road and was
called Reiff’'s Mill Road. In 1865,
Jonathan Lukens began his real
estate operation in the land now
the Borough and laid out Main
street. This road gave access to
the country north from Butler ave-
nue, and from that {ime, the people
had little need for travel on Reiff’s
road, and in the year 1902, when
the railroad built a subway for a
crossing at Maple street, it was
closed entirely for travel from But-
ler avenue to the latter street.

For some years, even when the
Newtown mill, owned by the Jenks
family, was closed for business, the
Ambler Fulling Mill served the
people of the surrounding country.

Undoubtedly of the six Fulling
mills which Bean’s history tells us
were in existence in Montgomery
County in the year 1795, the one
located in Ambler was the last to
survive this important industry; an
industry which for nearly one hun-
dred and fifty years, brought to the
locality, the Borough of Ambler
and to inhabitants living many
miles distance, daily essentials for
their comfort.

MARY AMBLER

The Fulling Mill is 8o closely
associated with Mary Ambler for
whom the Borough is named, it is
appropriate that in connection with
fts history some reference be made
to her life and activities in the com-
munity.

Mary Ambler was the daughter
of Abigail and Benjamin Johnson of
Richland Township, Bucks County.
She married Andrew Ambler on
May 14, 1829, They resided at the



MARY AMBLER’S HOMESTEAD

Located at the intersection of Main Street and Tennis Avenue and understood to be
the oldest house in Ambler. A Fulling Mill was in operation on the land prior to 1731 and
it is presumed that Philip Williams, (son-in-law of William Harmer) lived in the home
while operating the mill. Arthur Broades bought the property and made extensive altera-
tions in 1765. Andrew and Mary Ambler came into possession of the homestead in 1831
and it is now the residence of Mrs. Arthur R. Iliff and her daughters, Lucinda and
Cynthia. The house still contains the large fireplaces, dutch oven for baking and arched
vaults in the cellar for the storage of root vegetables.






Petition of 43 Inhabitants for Laying Out
Mt. Pleasant Avenue In 1730

Petition in the yvear 1730 for the road from North Wales road to William
Harmer's mill and into sd. road at Dr. Stroghitz.

To the justices of the Court, the humble petition of Willlam Harmer
and several other inhabitants using William Harmer's mill, sheweth: —

That there is occasion for a road to be laid out from the great road
leading to North Wales through the lands of safd William Harmer to the
said William Harmer's mill thence down the lines between White Marsh and
Dublin thence to the road by Dr. Stroghitz.

Will be pleased to have proper persons to lay out ye said load that it
may be confirmed at the next Court.

Dec. 1730. Whereas an order of Court was granted to Williaimn Harmer
and others for obtaining & road to and from his mill and was ordered that
any four of them should view and lay out ye same and in pursuance
thereof we whose names are given have viewed and by help of survey laid
out ye same. To begin at ye North Wales road through the lands of William
Harmer south on ye lines of Whitemarsh and Dublin thence to ye creek to ye
same course to ye road above Sandy Rup, by Dr. Stroghitz.

43 signature. Road docket, M. 37, City Hall. Phila.

PETITIONERS FOR FIRST ROAD FOR PUBLIC TRAVEL IN AMBLER PA,
ROAD DOCKET CITY HALL M 37 687
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home of his parents in Montgomery
Square until Andrew completed his
three year apprenticeship with his
father who followed the weaving
trade for many years. At the ex-
piration of the three years, Andrew
purchased the Fulling Mill and
eighty-three acres in the locality
now Ambler, and operated the same
successfully until his death March
7, 1860. His wife survived him
eighteen years, her death occurring
on August 18, 1868.

During the years of her widow-
hood, she operated the miil with
the help of her son, Lewis, who was
married and lived in the house still
standing at the forks of the road at
Main Street and Tennis Avenue,
The Fulling Mill and home of his
parents was in the same locality on
east side of Main Street, now the
home of Mrs. Arthur Richard ]lift.

Mary Ambler had seven
sons and one daughter. The
names of three of these, Andrew,
Isaac, and Lewils, appear in the mili-
tary list of 1864; Lewis is listed as
a manufacturer, Andrew as a car-
penter and Isaac as a farmer.

She held strictly to the formali-
ties of the day as held by some of
the members of her religious sect.
Samuel Shoemaker says that, when
a small boy in company with his
cousin, Tacy Acuff, he spent an en-
joyable afternoon visiting Mrs.
Ambler's boys. When it came time
for their departure, Tacy, the first
to give the final greeting, =said,
“Good-bye,” and recelved a severe
reprimand from her hostess who
said, “Don’t thee know that all good
little Quaker girls say ‘farewell'?”
Samuel had advantage of his cousin
and was made wise in the good
usages of the Soclety and with the
air of one who was well trained in
such, said, ‘“Farewell, Aunt Mary,”
and received a favorable compli-
ment from her.

The experience of another cousin
has been told by the late Isaac Shep-
pard. This cousin, at a frolic of the
children at the Ambler home on a
certain first day of April, succeeded
in trapping Aunt Mary and thereby
sald “April fool!” She, too, receiv-
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ed a reprimand from Aunt Mary
who replied, “Don't thee kuow that
it is wrong to say ‘April fool’? Thee
should say, ‘Fourth month dunce'.”
All of which goes to prove that she
was a woman strong {n her convic-
tions and felt that it was not in con.
formity with the worship of the
true God to honor the heathen gods
by naming the months for them.

She was a frall woman and in
weight never exceeded nirety
pounds. She was much interested
in the care of the sick, and for that
reason made her home a temporary
hospital at the time of the railroad
accident in 1866. Her friends and
neighbors always found her willing
to help in times of sickness among
them. These frequent aids which
ghe rendered to those residing in
the community and her responss to
tho Macedonian cry for help at the
time of the said rccident, prove her
worthy of the honor conferred on
her bty the officials of the railroad
company, who, on July 20, 1869, one
year after her death, changed the
name of the station from Wissa-
hickon to Ambler in her honor, a
name later adopted by the village
and post office.

THE CLOVER MILL

The mill usually designated as
the Clover Mijll, located at the
northeast corner of Butler Avenue
and Spring Garden Streets, was
erected about the year 1810, as we
are informed from the will ot
Arthur Bradis which is as followt.:

“l devise to my daughter Mary
all that tract of land comprising 24
acres which I purchased of Daniel
Morris, and all that other land, ad-
joining the above mentioned tract
containing 56 acres purchased of
the heirs of Rachel M, Vaugh, and
it is my will that my daughter Mary
and the owner of the tract of 24
acres devised to her shall have the
privilege of damming the water 16
poles on the adjoining lands, de-
vised to my son Peter Bradis, and
also the privilege of the ditches now
fixed on the sides of said land for
watering of the meadows 3 days a
week, till the mill shall be built on



the adjoining lands devised to my
son Peter.”

Peter Bradis died in the year
1831, In the following year the tract
of eighty-three acres was sold to
Andrew Ambler, and in the deed
given, a grist mill is mentioned.
The children of Andrew Ambler and
their contemporaries always spoke
of it as “The Clover Mill,” one to
which the inhabitant brought their
clover gruads to have the seed separ-
ated from the chaff, The business
was not a profitable one and was
of short duration, however the name
has always clung to f{t.

Evidently the Bradis family
were thrifty people because they
added a saw mill to the land, and
for a perlod of time this mill had a
triple duty to perform: grinding
grain, sawing timber, and culling
clover seed. Because of this, the
mill was distinctive in that it was
the only one of the eight which
wers in the locality that did any
work except grinding grain and
sawing lumber,

THE CLOVER MILL

The saw mill served Andrew
Ambler a useful purpose. He pur-
chased the land for the purpose of
getting possession of the Fulling
Mill which had to be rebuilt be-
cause of its many years of service.
Therefore, because of the saw mill
which would convert the timber on
hig land into lumber for use in his
buflding operation, he was saved
considerable expense in rebuilding,

The following letter will give
later generations some insight into
the activities that existed in these
early years in this location:

Dear Cousen Sue:—

Our farm is situated about two
miles fiom the station of Wissa.
hickon. My father f8 in business
in Philadelphia, and I take him to
the station every morning. I drive
a quiet horse called Bess. I drive
“quiet” but if you could see her
when she gets about 2 city squares
from the station you would say that
she was anything but quiet, for it
is all T can do to keep her on her
feet. It is al] because of a saw mil]
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which stands at the corner of two
roads here. It is not the noise
which she seems to mind, but that
which she does not see right which
frishtens her so terribly. The bank
is piled high here with great logsg
—enormous ones, which the people
have hauled here to have sawed
into lumber. Another part of the
bank 18 piled high with lumber
which is ready to be hauled away
by the owners. For a distance of
at least two city squares, this lum-.
ber, logs and parts of trees fill up
the whole bank higher than my
head on the side of the road,

I wish I could put spectacles on
Bes: for I know that it she could
see that all this was just trees cut
down, she would not be so scared.
One day I hitched her to a post at
the station and walked back to the
sawmill in order to have a good
look at all that was going on and I
can tell you it was a great sight.

Several teams came to unload
their logs. One person had oxen fn-
stead of horses to haul them there.
I got acquainted with the sawyer.
His name is James Allen. He has
a little rallway built from the road
to the mill, and on this a truck
loaded with heavy timber was run
by gravity to the m'. The sawyer
is a little short man. Oh, my! but
how strong he is to handle such
huge logs! He takes a big hook
and without any help swings them
on this railway and right to the
saw’s teeth they go.

While there 1 was reminded of a
poem | read some time ago which
was as follows:

“With watchful glance he goes,

Slow moving down the road,

The low, long, wagon, oxen drawn,

And creaking with its load,

He grasps the tollsome kant hook
tight,

With horny handas and brown,

And with the teamster's added
help,

The logs come thundering down.”

They say that since 1800, a mill
has been here, and that {t was once
a clover mill, but I do not know
what that means. You can see



where it is some times used for a
grist mill,

At the present time they arve
shipping some of the lumber froin
this mill to the armies in the South,
The man who owns the house on a
high hill east of the mill is named
Wilson Childs of the firm of Wilson
Childs and Co. of Philadelphia, and
he gets his wood turning or some
thing done here so that it can he
made into wagons for the use of
the Union army. He has a contract
with the Government. Johnty Luk-
ens is the name of the man who
runs the mill. They say that he
bought the mill so that he could
supply this Philadelphia firm with
the lumber they needed. Lukens
bought it from Isaac Thomas who
owns the store and post office on
the pike. I guess Thomas would not
have sold it if he knew how much
money could be made by it on ac-
count of the war. When I got tired
of looking at all the excitement
here 1 walked back of the mill and
wasn’t there a big orchard! Just
full of apple trees, all the limbs
hanging with apples every color
but blue. 1 took one to Bess. 1|
wanted to tell about a party I went
to last night, but my candle is
about burnt out so I must stop.

Good-bye,
KITTIE.

A short time after Andrew Am-
bler purchased the mill and had re-
built his Fulling Mill he wished to
be relieved of some of the cares at-
tached to the ownership of so much
land in order to devote his whole
time to his trade of weaving. He
therefore detached thirty-six acres
on which the mill stood and sold
the same to Isaac Thomas, who
operated the mill until the year
1865 when it was sold to Jonathan
Lukens.

In the deed given, it is specified
that the race shall be kept clean in
width the space of ten feet and
also the channel of the stream pass-
ing from the chopping and saw mil}
locate ' vn said creek in order to
prevent the rising and swelling back
of the water, which would other-
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wise impede or obstruci the work
of said mill.

The race bhuilt to provide a flow
of water to supply the mill with
power to run its wheels van parallel
with the present Race Street and
the creek which flows along its
banks. This race extended f{rom
near the bridge, which crosses the
creek on Butler avenue, to the mill.
This race was also supplied with
water from a never failing spring
which existed on the hillside of its
route. The race ended in a fore-
bay at the mill. The distinct out-
line of this is still seen in the curve
of Race street at the Spring Garden
street intersection.

The old race was gradually filled
in. A large part of its course was
obliterated when the houses on
Race street were built, Here it
saved the owners considerable ex-
pense, as ity existence obviated the
necessity of digging cellars. It
served double duty because it also
supplied the railroad with water as
we are informed from an old deed.
This right was reserved in a deed
which Jacob Reiff gave Jonathan
Lukens in 1869, when he sold him
5 acres, a part of which was later
deeded to the railroad.

Lukens was granted the use of a
certain street (later known as Race
street) intended to be opened tc a
depth of fifty feet parallel with
Butler avenue and the privilege of
laying a pipe six inches in diameter
of sufficient depth underneath the
8soil south westerly from the mill as
the same is constructed at the fore-
bay at the saw mill on the adjoining
lands of Jonathan Lukens for the
purpose of supplying the water for
the use of the locomotive of the
railroad but not to cause any over-
flow from the premises whenever
the pipe may need repairing. The
mill dam at the creek and the mill
race were to be maintained for the
purpose of supplying water for the
use of the loccmotive as well as
for the use of th: saw mill.

In 1879, the lot on which the mill
stood was purchased by Joseph
Levis. At this time, the only house
near-by was at the northwest corner



of Spring Garden and Race streets.
The sawyer resided in this house,
but as the sale to Levis did not in-
clude it, he built one for his home
on the southeast corner of Race and
Spring Garden streets. In 1885,
Franklin Sheppard bought one acre
and 113 perches on which this house
stood for which he paid $1825.00.
This property is still owned by his
son, Harry Sheppard. A barn built
by Levis was demolished in 1897.

Except for a short time after its
purchase by Lukens, the mill wae
never used for sawing Ilumber.
There never has been, however, a
discontinuance of business on the
lot on which it was erected. The
land on which the other mills stood
which once existed in the locality
are at the present day devoid of any
habitation on them; the historian
has no visible markings whereby to
locate them., The Clover Mill on
the other hand has had a mnonument
erected to its memory: in the unin-
terrupted years of business activi-
ties conducted where it stood. its
location has never failed to contrib-
ute to the prosperity of the com-
munity and the maintenance of a
family.

A cthort time after Jonathan
Lukens discontinued its use as a
saw mill, the second floor of the
building, which was a stone struc-
ture, was used by Paul Jones as a
manufacturing plant on a small
scale. At that time, the game of
croquet was very popular, and with
his turning plant, he made among
other articles mallets for use in
that game and it was a popular
saying ‘“be sure and get that new
game at Jones' shop.”

When the walls of the old mill
were demolished and used in the
locality for numerous pur-cses, &
small building was erected on the
rear portion of the lot which was
used for a time by George Biddle
who carried on a butcher business.
When he t.tired, a small industry
was conducted here by one named
Cole who made a specialty of mak-
ing wheelbarrows. It was safid that
every farm for several miles distant
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was supplied with a Cole wheel-
barrow.

When Cole retired, he had no suec-
cessor. It was considered the best
location in the village for business.
John Reed opened a tin.smith
shop on the second floor of the
building and rented the first floor
to B. F. Meyers, later to Arthur
Hayden, as a black smith shop.
The gas from this latter business
ruined the tin, and Reed was
obliged to move elsewhere. He
opened a place of business on Main
street known for many years as
Reed’'s Hardware Store, later suc-
cessfully managed by G. M. Deck
and Co.

The lapse of vears did not dis-
turb the opportunities for business
which this location now offered.
The mill for grinding corn, sawing
lumber and culling clover seed had
gone to decay and many great
changes had taken place in the
locality. The intersection of two
country roads was displaced by
paved streets in an incorporated
Borough., There was a rapidly
growing population and real estate
valuations were increasing. For
some yecars previous, in 1873, a life
long resident, Abram Stillwagon,
with business instinct, saw the pos-
sibilities of this location on which
the mill had stood and purchased
80 x 200 feet for $500.00. Abram's
friend, David Ambler, said to hin,
“Thee must be crazy, Abram, to
pay such a price.”

For a while Abram was discour-
aged and thought that David was
right, and that ft might not be
worth what he had paid for it. A
duck pond, as it was called, was in
the rear portion, and for protection
he was obliged to erect a wall which
cost him $300.00. 1n addition, he
was compelled to dig a well of fifty-
four feet which necessitated an ex-
penditure of moncy.

Mr. Stillwagon's spirits were,
however, later revived, for in the
year 1894, his property was chosen
as the Posi Office site and he him-
selt as the Post Master. As a side
line, he opened a bakery and estab-
lished a good business, When his



term expired, he sold the property
to Emanuel Vogt, who continuea
with the bakery, During Vogts
ownership the building erected on
the lot was destroyed by a fire. A
substantial house was later erected.
The large business created by the
American Stores of the present
day, attest to the reputation of the
location for business which it has
held for so many years,

“THOMSON'S MILL"

Thomson’'s mill was located on
the south side of Mt. Pleasant ave-
nue near the terminus of Maple
Street hetween the bridge and the
raflroad crossing. It was originally
built as a saw mill, by the Taylor
or Schaeffer family who were the
owners of the mill and thirteen
acres which went with it in 1809. In
1838, Samuel Davis was the owner
who sold it to Thomas Thomson
who added a grist mill to the saw
mill.

When Thomson died he had been
the owner fifty years. It was in
herited by his son, John, who also
controlled the mill for fifty years.
At the end of his ownership, it was
sold in the year 1890, to Dr. R. V.,
Mattison for the Ambler Spring
Water Co., a sale which included
the dam and race, and in that year,
Dr. Mattison demolished the old
mill.

The dam was repaired to act as
a reservoir and a twenty-four inch
pipe was laid to the Keasbey ana
Mattison buildings. Several feet ot
this pipe was lald twenty feet under
a house on Butler avenue, In the
summer months the K. & M. Co.
would have a shortage of water, but
with this additional supply they had
unlimited quantities.

The water supplied by this dam
was not used by the Ambler Spring
Water Co, to furnish water to the
inhabijtants, but only as a reservoir
for the requirements of the Keashey
and Mattison Company.

The dam which furnished the
race with water used by the Thom-
son mill, when it was operated, was
located about 1} mile above the site
of the mill, and was called “Tom-
my’s Dam” by the boys with whom
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it was a favorite swimming pool in
summer and skating pond in the
winter season. It was frequently
much damaged by muskrats which
were numerous on its banks,

Near the location of the mlill, a
small frame building was erected
in the year 1891 by the Independent
school district, in pursuance of a
decree of the Court to provide a
meeting place for its directors and
a polling place for the electors un-
til such a time as the District could
be dissolved.

In the year 1872, an item in the
L.ansdale paper said that Thomson’s
mill was one of the best flour mills
in the locality. It completed {ts
many years of service to humanity
twelve years later, and its former
existence is almost forgotten in the
present day.

WERTSNER MILL

The mill known in later times as
the Wertsner Mill was located near
the locality of the boundary line of
the Borough, on a creek which
crossed the Morris road about one
half mile nerth of its intersection
with the Butler Pike. This mfill s
the only one In the locality of which
the exact year of its erection is
known, owing to the fact that it is
of comparatively recent date, It is,
too, the only one which is outside
the boundary line, for which reason
the Borough might not claim it as
her own. Definitely defined lines ot
a boundary can be laid aside, how-
ever, owing to the close proximfty
of the mill to this line.

The urge is telt to include the
history of the mill in our list, that
we may never forget the part the
locality, very mnear the Borough,
played during the Revolutionary
war; an event of much historic in-
terest, and one that gave Jhmes
Morris the occasion for the erection
of his grist mill, known to latel
generations ag Wertsner's Mill.

The tract of land on which this
mill was later erected included nine
ty-four acres, and was purchased by
Joseph Morris soon after he sold
the land adjoining on the South, on
which stood the mill erected by



Williamm Harmer, later called the

Plumly Mill

James Morris, the son of Joseph
Morris, inherited this land soon af-
ter the latter's death. He was in-
terested in agricultural pursuits,
and had no interest in the grist
mil]l business, as there was no mill
for grinding in existence on his
property.

The following incident, as told in
history, occurred however very
soon after he became the owner of
the lJand with the result that he
built a mill of such nature:

Brigadier-Genera]l Weeden'., regt-
ment of Virginia troops was en-
camped on James Morris’ farm
from October 19 to November 2,
1777. During their stay the season
was very rainy and they met with
many discomforts, due to the
weather condition, This fact and
many other greater discomforts
which were possible in the coming
winter season, were grave dangers
to be met. In this emergency, they
lost no time in preparing a way to
meet them. They saw the necessity
for places of shelter. To provide
these, they felled the timber in the
surrounding forest and began to
erect structures which would give
them a more favorable out-look of
comfortahle living, and r=lieve
their minds of future dangers of
sickness due to the exposure to the
elements. .

The Regiment vacated the farm
soon after they felled the forest and
a record says that on their march
from their encampment towards
Fort Washington, they went past
Edge’'s Mill., As this mill is one in.
cluded in the list which at this time
was within the Borough limits, we
may say that two of her histeic
mill sites are a part of the Revolu-
tionary War.

This was in the year 1777. Very
soon after the army had vacated,
James Morris saw the opportunity
afforded for the er:ction of a grist
mill. The timher felled by the
soldiers was sufficfent for its erec-
tion; a stream of ~ater and a strong
spring, near the ‘elled forest, would
provide the power to operate §t. He
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took advantage of all the favorable
opportunities thus offered and built
his mill.

James Morris died in 1796 and in
1798 his widow, Elizabeth and
daughter, Hannah, sold to Adam
Wertsner for 1000 pounds sterhng,
the grist mill and fourteen and
three-quarters acres of land, The
deed mentions the dam, mill pond
and mill race 3432 feet long.

James Magee, Jr., in a historical
paper on this mill, tells us “that the
Morris estate placed certain restric-
tions on the property.” The water
gate from the mill race was to be
kept in good order, and any excess
of water required for running tho
mill, was to run over the meadows
of the Morris property. A small
notch was cut in a corner stone on
the west side of the mill and the

water was never allowed to rise
above that poiut.
During the time that the mill

was owned by Adam Wertsner, in
the year 1856, an exciting event oc-
curred at this mill, an event which
created much excitement among
the inhabitants of the surrounding
country. In July of that year, a
railroad accident occurrcd near
Fort Washington which resulted in
the death of several persons. The
arrest and conviction of the engin-
eer of the train was demanded by
members of some of the surviving
families, who thought that as the
cause of the accident, he should re-
ceis/e the punishment due him. It
was learned that he was secreted
in the Wertsner Mill. He escaped
aowever, and the large number of
peconle who had congregated there
in the hopes of securing his arrest
were much disappointed in their
failure to apprehend him. He later
committed suicide at his home in
Philadelphia. Mrs. Eugene Nice, a
daughter of Adam Wertsner, fre-
quently related this event which
occarred at her home in her child-
hood.

During the ownership of this mill
by James Morris, through his petl-
tion to the Court, a road was
granted by that hody to be huilt
from Morris’ Mill to Skippack Pike.



It was never used very much ex-
cept to go to and from this mill, and
when the mill ceased operation in
the year 1887, traffic on the road
was very sparse,

The mill had an over-shot wheel
twenty-four feet in diameter. This
was replaced by a new one in the
year 1870, when it was increased to
thirty feet.

The charm and beauty of this mill
which was demolished in 1887, is
fortunately preserved for us in a
photograph which fs reproduced in
Moon’s history of the Morris fam-
ily and in a photograph done by a
local artist at the request of Mrs.
Eugene Nice, and now is in the pos-
session of her descendants.

Adam Wertsner added a cider
mill to the grist mill and as it was
the only one for many miles, it did
an extensive business.

A large addition was made in the
year 1820 to the north side of the
dwelling. This house located near
the Morris road at the intersection
of a small creek, and this route of
travel stood a few feet front of the
mill.

REIFF MILL

With the exception of the one
known as the Reiff Mill, of which
the present article is a history,
every vestige of the walls of the
nine mills which once stood within
the limits or or the boundary line
of the Borough, have disappeared.
Their wheels ceased running fifty
years ago, their walls were de-
molished, and nothing exists in the
present day to designate their loca-
tions; locations which for two hun-
dred years were hives of industry.

Reiff’s mill stands today as a
private house, 302 Butler avenue,
near the crossing of the highway
with the Wissahickon Creek. It, too,
served many years of grinding, and
duo to these long years of service
it needed to be entirely rebuilt
when purchased by Joseph Reiff in
the year 1843. He loved the old mill
and to-show his reverence for it, he
put on it the inftials J. A. R. which
stood for Joseph and Ann Reiff.

The first mill was erected here
between the years 1731 and 1747,

We get this information from the
will of William Harmer, in which
he gives his son, John, one hundred
acres and twenty-five lbs. towards
finishing a dwelling house already
begun on the same land. No mill {8
mentioned in this bequest. We
know, however, that a mill was
erected on this land during John
Harmer's ownership, for it is men-
tioned in the deed given when in
the year 1747, he sold this tract
and moved to Springfield Township.

The ownaership of the mill to 1766
is unknown, From 1766 to 1768,
Lewis Reyner was the owner. John
Wise held title to it in 1804, the
year of his death which was the
result of an accident at his mill in
Roxboro. His son, Joseph, inherited
the mill and eighty-nine acres on
which it was located.

Joseph Reiff purchased the mill
in 1843. He married one named Ann
whose surname is unknown. They
had five children., Their eldest son,
Enos, married Elizabeth Weaver
and bought tho mill after his
father's death. He resided in a new
house built for him on his marriage,
which has been converted into a
double dwelling house, now 117
Butler avenue. His parents, Joseph
and Ann, resided in a house which
stood very near the one built for
Enos, located near the corner ot
Reifi’s Mill Road and Butler ave-
nue as it existed in that day. This
house was of fine colonial architec.
ware and in a fair state of preserva-
tion, with the date 1797 on its wall,

-all of which was demolished by a
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later purchaser.

Jacob Reiff, the second son of
Joseph and Ann, had no interest in
the mill property, He resided in the
house at the Southwest corner of
Butler avenue and the Morris road,
participating in large real estate
interests in the vicinity, Five acres
of his land were purchased in the
year 1856 from the executors of his
father’'s will for $2000.00. This
tract extended to Main street and
included the ground on which the
present National Bank and also
Craft's Coal Yard stand. When the
railroad tract was laid in the vil-



lage, he gave them a right of way
and also five hundred feet of ground
for a station, all free of charge.

Enos Reiff, who heild the mill
property, died in the year 1870, and
at his death it was sold to William
McClean. Eventually it came into
the possession of Dr. R. V. Mat-
tison, who converted it into a pri.
vate dwelling.

Although this mill stood very
near the Wissahickon Creek, its
water power did not come from
that stream since in those days
they had no way to utilize water
so0 situated near a mill for power.
The waters from the creek known
as Rose Valley Creek in the early
days, which also supplied the Ful-
ling Mill at Tennis avenue and
Main street, ran the wheels of this
mill, This creek and the race of the
Fulling Mill were tapped near the
latter mill. From there, a race was
built which ran parallel and very
near to the present railroad tracks.
A dam was built for a reservoir on
the location of the present Asbhes-
tos Works, and from this dam the
race was extended to Butler ave-
nue crossing it near the mill
Three bridges were erected on the
route of the race. One was built
over the creek which ran parallel
with Butler avenue and emptied
into the Wigsahickon; the second
covered the race; and the third
bridge was erected where the race
crossed Butler avenue.

The Reiff’s did not own the land
where the race was tapped near
the Fulling Mill at Tennls avenue
and Main street. They did own,
however, the water right for the
purpose of getting water for their
race, and also for the purpose of
repairing beyond their own land.

Samuel Shoemaker says that
this mill at one time did an exten-
sive business and was usually in
operation day and night. While
most of the mills did only a lmit-
ed amount of work and had only a
loca) trade, the Reiff Mil) shipped
their flour to distant points, car-
ried in special barrels labeled
“Rose Valley Mill.” At this time
the creek which emptied into the
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Wissahickon near Main street and
Tennis avenue and supplied the
Fulling Mill and Reiff's Mill with
water for power, was called the
“Roso Valley Creek,” owing to the
number of rose hushes which grew
on its banks,

The *“Hatboro Spirit” of 1878
says, “McCleans are running their
mill night and day as they have
plenty of water, while some of the
mills have to stop on account of
its scarcity.”

When the mill stopped running
about the year 1884, the disposition
of the race was a serfous problem
to the residents of the village. For
the long distance that it extended,
it was ten feet deep and twenty
feet wide. Later generations can
hardly realize that it ever existed
since in the present day no trace
of it is visible,

At this time, the firm of Keas-
bey and Mattison was established
in the Borough and was in need of
building stone for the erection of
their factory and homes for their
employees. They found stone suit-
able for this purpose at the south.-
west corner of Butler avenue and
the railroad tracks, where the
Opera House fs now situated.
There was an elevation here of
several feet and before the stone
which was found here could be
quarried, it was necessary to re-
move the top soil. This soill was
used for filling the excavation of
the old race. In a short time, the
hridges on the race were aband-
oned, the race filled fn, and its
former existence forgotten by a
majority of the inhabitants.

Eight of the nine mills which
once stood in the section of the
country now an  incorporated
Borough, have been demolished.
The passing of time and the great
changes which have taken place in
the lives of the people have ren-
dered them obsolete. Few signs of
their existence are visible today.
Uneven contours of the land in
some cases can be traced, which
mark the courses of the mill races.
An occasfonal bhreast-work of a
dam can be noted by one who is



familiar with the history of the
mills, but othierwise their physical
remains are gone and they exist
only fn the memory of some of the
oldest inhabijtants, or {in the
records of local historians and an-
tiguarians.

The walls and
the Reiff Mill, however, stand to-
day, although a passer-by would
not recognize it as a former mill,
for it has been converted into a
private home, and the builders
made no effort to preserve the
character and qualities ot the old
mill. New windows have plerced its
walls; an asbestos roof replaced
the original shingles, and a coat ot
stucco hides the lovely stone work
of the early craftsman; a front
porch and other modern accessor-
fes have replaced :he water wheel
and sluices. The initials placed
thereon by Joseph Reiff and the
vear he rebuilt the mill were also
defaced by the spoiler and but for
the memory of those to whom
these inscriptions have a touch of
sacredness, their existence in the
present day would have been for-
gotten.

HAGUE'S MILL

The mill known as Hague's Mili

was located at the intersection of
thoe Bethlehem Pike and Hague's
Mill road, approximately one-half
a mile north of Rose Valley. It
was built by the Burk family who
were the owners of a large ter-
ritory in the locality in early
years.
*In 1776, John Purk gave a deed
of sale to Lewis Stannart in
which he mentions a mill and
thirty acres. From this record we
know that a mill was in existence
at that time, and undoubtedly it
had been built many years earlier,
In 1797 Lewis Stannart, a miller
of Germantown, and probably a
son of the former owner, sold the
mill property to George Hague,

George Hague was born in 1704
and died in 1824. He had two sons
and three daughters, Christine,
Mary and Margaret, who are men-
tioned in his will. The three daugh-
ters were highly esteemed mem-

foundations of,
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bers of St. Thomas’ Church in
Whitemarsh. Two of them lived to
be 89 and 92, and the third one
died in her seventy-first year. The
three daughters were unmarried
and the sons left no children; the
name however {8 perpetuated in
the road known as Hague's Mill
Road, which was opened for travel
to enable the inhabitants who re-
sided in the section of country
north of its terminus on Butler
avenue to more conveniently reach
the mill.

The old Hague home is still
standing near the former location
of the mill. It was remodelled
three times, but in its construction
is still interesting to those who
love the homes as constructed by
the early settlers,

The heirs of George Hague sold
the mill and eleven acres to Rob-
ert Pollard, For ten years or until
1844, it was known as the J'ollard
Mill. From 1844 to 1864, it had
several owners. In the latter year,
the mill and 10 acres were pur-
chased by John L. Heist for $6000.-
00 from the executors of Jacob
Acuff.

It was eventually purchased by
Albert Beck, who was a well-
known bullder of Ambler, and who
made the purchase in order to get
possession of its stones for his
building operations in different
parts of the country. Its walls were
completely demolished a ‘short
time after it had stopped grinding
in the year 1887. In 1908, J. Wat-
son Craft purckased from Beck
the land on which the mill had
stood, and later sold the same to
Robert Griffith.

The mill had no forebay but got
its power directly from a dam sit-
uated on a near-by elevated piece
of ground. The wheel was an over
shot one and was thirty feet in
diameter. Wallace Mammal, a for-
mer resident of Ambler, remem-
bers the operation of the mill in its
later days. He tells us that on ac-
count of the large wheel with
which it was equipped for getting
power, and the location of the dam,
he has seen the mill in good work-



ing order on a test of as lit\!C as &
bucket of water. The other mills
in the same locality were frequent-
ly obliged to shut down in the cold
seasons or times of draught, but
the old Hague Mill was never idle;
its wheels never stopped for cli-
mate or season. The inhabitants
could at all times depend upon it
for their grinding.

BURK'S MILL

For many years, one of the most
prominent industyial sections of
Montgomery County was the East.
side of the Morris road, between
Fort Washington and Ambler sta.
tions at the terminus of Church
street. L.ooking at this location to-
day, where there i3 no human
habitation, where it is overgrown
with shrubs and uderbrush, one can
hardl realize that here once
stood a thriving industry, The
story or this spot is truly the con-
version o1 a wilderness into a
thriving industrial center and its
decline and return again to a
wilderness, due to the fluctuations
and destiny of man,

In the year 1689, John Burk,
who emigrated from England, pur-
chased several hundred acres in
Upper Dublin Township. In those
days, the settlers who purchased
large tracts of land availed them.
selves of the power afforded by
streams on their property, tor the
erection of grist mills. Burk had
two locations on his tract suitable
for this purpose and on each he
erected a mill. The one situated at
the intersection of Hague's Mill
Road and the Bethlehem Pike was
operated by his son Hugh, and
wag known later as the Hague Mill.
The second mill of which the pres-
ent writlug is a history, was lo-
cated on the Morris road on the
west bank of the Wissahickon, and
here his son, Edward, dwelt.

John Burk died in the year 1744.
His executors were his sons, Ed-
ward and Hugh. Thirty acres of
his land, on which the grist mill
on the Morris road was located,
were sold to James Paul, who add.
ed to his possessions by purchasing
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fifteen ecres adjoining this land
from Archibal McClean, a Hor-
sham squire, and elght acres far-
ther down the Wissahickon Creek.
James Paul held this land for two
years only. In the year 1753, he
gave a deed for all of the same to
Jacob Edge. It is thought that
James Paul never lived here; he
was a life-long resident of Abing-
ton Township. In the tax list of
1724 in that township, he is the
largest individual land owner., His
father-in-law, Morris Morris, who
succeeded Willilam Harmer as the
owner of the mill on the triangular
lot, and the four hundred and
eight acres of land on which it was
located, was the next largest
owner in the same township,

The purchase of the grist mill
and the tract ot land on which it
was located was made by James
Paul as a gift to his daughter, Mar-
garet, the wife of Jacob Edge to
whom the title of the lund was
given. Jacob Edge was supervisor
of Whitemarsh Township and ac-
tording to many authorities a
member of the family for whom
the locality of KEdge Hill was
named. Jacob Edgo resided here
and operated the miil until his
death in 1784. The executors of his
will were his wife, Margaret, his
brother-in-law, Jacob Paul, and
friend, Jonathan Thomas. We are
told in his will that the original
mill built by John Burk iwas at
this time unfit for grinding. To
use the expression given in Edge's
will, it “had gone to decay.” Firom
this we would fnfer that it had
been built many years before John
Burk’s death in 1744,

Jacob Edge's executors followed
the instructions ot his will and
sold the property which was pur-
chased by Joseph Detwliler and his
son-in-law Jacob Reiff, The deed
of this transfer said that “this sale
included ,three tracts of ground
with water, grist mill, and ap-
purtances, one of them containing
fifteen acres and the other thirty
acres upon which was the mill
‘‘now gone to decay” and another
containing  elghty acres upon



which the new grist mill had heen
hullt.

The second mill built to replace
the one which “had gone to decay”
was  erected farther down the
stream in order to get the bhetter
water fall located on the west
hank of the Wissahickon creek,
near the terminus of Scheaf's
[Aane on the Morris Road.

Joseph Detwiler died soon after
this purchase and Jacob Reciff, his
son-in-law, became the sole own-
er. In 1838, it was sold to Joseph
Jakens who had married Jazob
Reiti's daughter.

Jacob Laukens, a son of Joseph,
operated the mill for a time, Dur.
ing the gold fever ot 1849-50, Jacob
went to California in search of
riches, where he died, and in 1864,
the property was sold to Amos
Heller. A short time later it was
purchased by Eberhard Flues, and
converted into what was called a
“Silk Mill” and its history from
that time is a history of that plant
which was known as Flues Silk
Mill until the year 1874.

Much sentiment ig attached to
the mills at this location because
of the many years the same fam-
ily held possession. In a perifod of
160 years, the Jand on which they
stood was held in a line of succes-
sfon by three ramilles only. John
Burk and his son held it for forty
yYears; James Paul and his descend
ants held possession untl] 1784,
when {t was sold to Joseph Del.
wiler. It was owned by the Det.
wiler and Reiff family for the
same period of time as the Paul
family—forty-threo years.

The romance of this mill is cen-
tered ahout the life of Jacob Rdge
who resided here nearly all his
lite. Our memory clings here to the
days when his four daughters,
Mary, Susanna, Rachel and Ann,
beautiful in face and character,
created a  hospitality which
brought to theilr home relatives
and friends living many miles dis-
tant. Here, on a lfttle fsland which
once existed in the Wissahickon
Creek near the mill site—a gem of
nature known as Edge's Island—
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they freguently met for social in-
tercourse, for boating or fishing,
fishing especially for shad when
in season, a sport which was once
greatly indulged in along the Wis-
sahickon Creek.

To know that this army of men,
to whom we are much indebted
for the liberties we enjoy in our
land, touched the hem of ourgar-
ment—the Borough land—gives a
touch of reverance to the mill gite
of Jacob Kdge which can never ba
effaced from our memory. It is to
be regretted that a portion of the
walls of the old Mill was not left
on fts site as a monument and as
a guide in the historical land-
marks of the locality.

Another thing, however, more
momentous than the Island which
once existed in the Wissahickon,
from the banks of which the people
fished for shad, I8 the event of
great historic interest which was
associated with battle of German-
town, for Washington's soldiers,
who were encamped at James Mor-
ris’ mill in Whitpain Township for
thirteen days, left their, encamp-
ment on October 19, 1777, at 17
o'clock in the evening and took
their line of march down the Mor-
ris road past Edge’'s mill to the
Bethlehem Pilke.

To know that this army of men,
to whom we are much indebted
for the liberties we enjoy in our
Jand, touched the hem of our gar-
ment—the Borough land—gives a
touch of reverance to the mill site
of Jacoh Kdge which can never bo
effaced from our memory. It is to
be regretted that a portion of the
walls of the old Mill was not left
on its site as a monument and as

a guide in the historical land-
marks of the locality.
Although the walls of Burk's

Mill were in a good state of pre-
servation and {ts water power was
unimpaired, it diq little grinding
except that of a spasmodic nature
after Jacob Lukens went to Cali-
fornia in search of wealth, \Whilo
there is no record of the exact
vear that the mill stopped grinding,
it is known that it was much



earlier than any other in the local-
ity, due, as records show, to un-
favorable conditions of the mil
site; the two dams which were
made in the course of the race
often “broke with the floods,” as
it was said, at such times when the
Wissahickon would be swollen
with heavy waters. The repair of
these in addition to the loss of time
in grinding entajled much expense.
Again the work was frequently
handicapped, owing. to the small
fall of little over six feet of water
on the wheel, as a result of the
grade of the race. The greatest
handicap in the operation of the
mill was, however, the necessity
of frequently cleaning out the race.

The races of the old grist mills
were Kkept, as a rule, to the depth
of ten feet, and did not require
cleaning out oftener than once in
two or three years. Burk’s Mill,
however, could never go without
being cleaned out ut least every
year, owing to the contour of the

land through which it flowed,
which favored surface washings
of the soil into the racebed

especinlly after the fields on its
route were cultivated. The long
extent of the race from Butler ave-
nue to the mill site also materially
increased the expense of this work,
To save :he expense of the labor to
accomplish this work, it was often
the custom of a mill owner to invite
eighteen or twenty neighbors to
do the work— a labor given hy
them gratuitously in exchange for
a good dinner,

Jacob Reiff tried another plan
to get this work done which has
been handed down to us by au-
thoratitive sources. He hired
several foreigners, who were then
flocking into the country, to make
the race deeper by the removal of
the accumulation of dirt in its bed.
He made a contract with them for
the payment of a certain sumn of
money for the work and he was to
hoard them. Nothing was sald
about the amount allowed for their
board, but the laborers were under
the dimpression that this was in-
cluded In the contract. When f{t

26

came time for a settlement, the
bill Reiff presented for their board
was quite large, and instead of re-
celving money for their work, they
were in debt {o Reiff. For many
years when anyone in the locality
would make a close bargain they
would say “that is cqual to Jacobh
Reiff’'s race deal.”

All the mill owners in the locus-
ity desired access to the Bethlehem
Fika. The road known in the pres-
ent day as the Morris road, which
was confirmed by the Court as
early in 1730, gave Burk an outlet
to this highway. However for
some reason, le desired another
road, possibly a shortor route, or
with an outlet further north, and
in 1744, petitioned to the Court
saying, ‘“That he had recently
erected a mill, and was in nced of
a road about onc-half a mile long
to enable people to reach {t.” In
the same year, this road which is
tha prosent Church street which
forms the southern boundary line
of the Borough was granted by the
Court as we are informed hy tho
following record:

“John Burk has been granted a
road to his mill, at a point on the
corner of the land of Andrew
B radford on tho great Highway to
the Morris road, 6 poles (90 feet)
south of John Burk's mill.”

This road was undoubtedly a
great convenience to his patrons,
and they did not object to being
required to ford the Wissahickon
in order to reach the mill, as
bridges were almost unknown, and
the people were accustomed to
crossing the streams. However,
in the year 1763, during Jacob
Edge's ownership of the mill, tho
method of travel had changed, and
instead of travelling on horsobuck,
they rode in wheeled carriages, and
went to mill in a cart or similar
conveyance. To crosg the creck
in a conveyance, especially when
it was swollen with rains, was a
venture the patrons of the mill
did not care to take in order to
reach the mill, and Burk’'s road was
seldom used.

Jacob Edge had little use for



Burk’'s Road since the Morris Road
met all his needs and therefore paid
little attention o its repair, not-
withstanding John Buk’'s promise
to be responsible for its good con-
dition, and that the Township
would be at no expense for keeping
it fit for travel. Owing to Jacob
Edge's neglect to repair this road,
the inhabitants made an effort
through a course of law to compel
him to do so and i{n 1763, among the
fnhabitants of Upper Dublin Town-
ship, one Valentine Puff, who to-
gether with thirty-seven others pe-
titioned to the Court to ¥Fnow
whether the Township or Jacob
Edge should bear the expense of
keeping the road in repair, made
the following complaint:

“Now the sald roaa veing laid a
little below the breast of said dam
across Wissahickon Creek, the dam
breaking with the floods, hath torn
and swept away all the timber and
all other materials whereby ye sald
road was supported so that it
proves very expensive, and it is al-
most impossible to repair the said
road and now, may it please Your
Honor. and take it into considera-
tion. that the sald Jacob Edge hath
removed a certain wing of his dam
which confined the waters in a nar-
row channel where the said Jacob
Edge hath extended the dam to a
considerable length beyond the
limits in which the said dam was
bounded when the road was laid
out aud never mado that part that
was added any way sufficient, but
generally when a breach is made
by the floods, {t i3 in that very
place where tho addition was made
and turns the current down the
sald Road so that it is impossible
to repair and keep good the said
road; and further Jacob hath
fenced up a plece of high, dry land
where carriages and horses used to
shift out upown for safety when the
bottom was Cutt and washed so by
the waters as to make it at times
both dangerous and impassible and
refuseth any assistance to support
and mend ye safd rd when John
Burk at time of laying out the sald
road did promise to maintain and
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keep good that piece of bad road,
from said road t{o the fast land.
Your petitioners craveth the senti-
ments of your Worshlps, whether
the Township should bear the ex-
pense of the damages done by the
insufficienty of ye said dam, espec-
ially the addition siuce the road
was laid out.”

The Court compelled Edge to re-
pair the insufficlency of the dam
and the damage done by the water
course of his mill. He was, how-
ever, under no obligation to repair
the road beyond his property. From
this time, the close relationship
which had existed for so many
years between the grist mill on the
Morris IRoad and thoe road laid out
by Burk, known in the present day
as Church Street came to an end
and passed into history.

THE DECADENCE OF THE
GRIST MILLS

The years hetween 1870 and '80
marked the decadence of the grist
mills which were so closely inter-
woven with the early history of the
land now the Borough of Ambler.

Steam power supplanted water
power, and the roller system of
grinding replaced the primitive

method of cruching the grains with
stones.

Not only the great flour mills of
Minneapolis, but the local ones of
Hartzell's at Chalfont and A. B.
Godshall at Lansdale, were distri-
buting throughout the country, by
means of the railroad, a superior
brand of flour of their manufacture,
By means of the markets, the in-
habitants sold the grains they had
cultivated to these mills equipped
with machinery for large produc-
tion, and then purchased at the
local store, the flour which was
produced at these mills,

The mills run by water power
were compelled to submit to the in-
evitable changes of time and were
totally abandoned for grinding. As
a result, the mill which in the '50's
had a valuation of $3000.00 was
twenty years later, valueless, {ts
walls wero demolished and only its
historfe background survived. We
love the memory of the old



grist mills, which now 1is past
history; we breathe in thefr atmos-
phere the life of the first settler.
We cherish in our thoughts, the
rich history they have given our
Borough land, and the distinctive
features which each possessed,
making that history endure,

A resume of these features which
still linger in our minds may be
summarized as follows: The Hague
Mill on the Bethlehem Pike, which
ceaged to grind in the year 1887,
claims the honor of having been in
operation two years longer than any
in the locality; a long service pos-
sible because of its location on the
Great Highway, and tho less ex-
pense fincurred in operating it be-
cause of the short race and fall of
sixteen feet of water on {ts wheel.

The Burk or Edge Mill on the
Morris Road, which ceased to grind
twenty-five years before the Haguo
Mill, was the firat to stop operat-
ing due, on the other hand, to the
expense incurred in operating it be.
cauge of its long race and short
fall of six feet of water on its
wheel—a height which was the
minfmum requirement.

To the Reiftf Mill which was oper-
ated two or three yeais longer than
the Wertsnor and Thomson Mill,
credit must be given for the prom-
fnence it gave the locality. It alone
of the several mills, distributed
flour beyond {ts own territory. The
label “Rose Valley Mills” on the
barrels distributed by this mll
throughout the country, gave the
locality the well Jdcserved promin.
ence as a mill centre.

The Clover Mill ig distinctive in
its history because of its location,
With the exception of this mill,
the soll on which the others wereo
erected is, at tho present day, bar-
ren: a blade of grass or twig of
shrubbery exists where they stood.
It alone has a monument erected to
its memory in the large bhusiness
created on its site.

To the Plumly Mill we bow our
heads in reverence: it marks the
location of the first home in the
Borough land On f{ts soil the first
jndustry was createq, the first play-
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ground for the children was plan-
ned. Willlam Harmer, whose life
shines forth as a beacon light from
that far-off day, dwelt on its site,
Through his petition to the Court,
the first road for public travel in
the Borough was laid out; he was
the first to show us the joy to be
had from work, the first to teach
us the lesson to dwell in love with
11 muankind by his life of living in
harmony with the Indians; and the
need of honesty in true living as
proven in his report to William
Penn of the stray horse which was
found on his plantation,

The Fulling Mil}, the Wertsner,
Edge, and Clover Mills all deserve
equal honors for the part they made
as historic land marks in the Revo-
lutionary and Civil Wars. The
Clover Mill played its part by sup-
plying the Unfon Army with ma-
terfals needed for its equipment;
the Wertsner Mill provided coru-
fort and protection for Washing-
ton’'s soldlers who were encamped
on its ground; and beside the walls
of the Edge Mill, these soldiars
marched for future war duty; fin-
ally the Ambler Fulling Mill, to
which the soldlers were indebted
for the supply of blankets, gave
them bodily comtort.

A history of the grist mill brings
back to us a picture of bygone
days. The controversies over dams,
water ways and road-ways leading
to the mills make those living to-
day reallze what an Important part
the grist mill played in the eco-
nomic and sociul life of the 18th
and 19th centurles. Today we strug-
gle with problems of capital and
labor, monopolies and interstate
commerce, Did not our forefathers
have economic prohlems equally in-
surmountable to contend with in
their day?

How little did they realize that a
new era was about to dawn, mak-
ing their dams, water wheels, and
mills obsolete; their controversies
futile, and their investments worth-
less. As we have previously stated,
fn the year 1887, the last wheel
turned fn Hague's Mill and the
nine grist mills of Ambler be.
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First post office in Upper Dublin Township located on south side of Bethlehem Pike
at terminus of Euclid Avenue. The building was owned by Isaac Thomas who conducted
a general store. In 1870, the post office was moved to Main Street and Butler Avenue and
the name changed to Ambler. The above building was demolished in 1896.






The above map represents the original grant of land from Willilam Penn to William
Harmer and com.prlses four hundred and eight acres, the size of the present Borough ot
Ambler. Map taken from the Ol"g“lﬂl which was D“b“s‘l('(' in London hy Holmes in 1682.
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came like the bow and arrow, the
flafl, the ox.cart, and the buggy—
symbols of ages past.

In the '80¢'s, the machine age had
dawned and the full morning of a
new industrial era was in the sky;
new steam and electrical power,
vast farm areas in the West, new
frontiers opening up, relegated
the old grist mill to oblivion. The
children of the millers along the
Wissahickon entered new voca-
tions; and the stone walls and
rock banks of the mills like Burk’'s
Mill on the Morris Road had “gone
to decay.”

In 1881, a new influence arrived
along the Wissahickon. In that
year, a Philadelphia firm com-
posed of Henry G. Keasbey and R.
V. Mattison, M. D., found that in
order to meet the requirements of
their chemical plant {t was neces-
sary to remove it outside the city
Jimits. They sought a place that
possessed the fundamentals for in-
dustry, viz: water, transportation
facilities and a labor market. The
little villuge of Ambler with its
decaying mills, appealed to their
keen bhusiness instinct, and in a
modest way, started agajn the
spinning of wheels along the Wis-
gahickon hanks.

Tho story of this renafssance of
Ambler {ndustry, which will be
the subject of a later article, is the
story of the momentum of those
turning wheels—wheels  which
created a revolution in the locality
and made that locality known in
all quarters of the globe through
the purchase and sale of the pro-
ducts of {ts manufacturing plant.

FLUES' SILK MILL

The abandoned grist mill of
Jacob Edge and the Reiff and
Lukens families, situated on tha
Morris Road at the terminus of
Church St, between Fort Washing-
ton and Ambler stations, was the
nucleus of the flrst manufacturing
plant in the locallty of the borough
of Ambler, This plant was estab-
lished by a firm of commission
merchants of New York com-

posed of Charles Hieronius, Eber-
hard Flues, and Charles Spielman,
importers of fancy silks and wool-
en goods.

in the year 1861, under the name
of Flues and Co. they leased of A,
T. Stewart for three years to
carry on business purposes, the
premises 96 and 98 Reade St., New
York, for $4000.00 a year. With
offices fn Vienna, Paris and Lon-
don, their business was very pros-
perous. However, the firm de-
cided that it would be to their ad-

- vantage to manufacture their own
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goods, and sell them in the house
leased of A. T. Stewart. The plant
on the Morris Road was therefore
established with that object in
view.

The selection of the site of the
abandoned grist mill was suggest-
ed as a location for their manufac-
turing plant by Eberhard Flues,
the executive head of the firm,
who was famfliar with the location
thru frequent visits to Dr. Elliger, a
relative who resided in the near.
by locality of Ft. Washington. '4e
property was owned by Amos
Heller and was advertised for sale.
Its purchase was made in the
yvear 1867 by Eberhard Flues, rep.
resenting the firm. The deed called
for a tract of 89 acres, including
the grist mill, For the entire area
he paid $22,600. Soon after the
purchase, the walls of the mill
were demolished and on its founda-
tion a large frame structure was
erected to meet the needs of the
manufacturing plant. A building
in proximity to the mill was also

erected for a dyeing establish.
ment.

Looms were placed in the
building and by means of the
water power, the business was
started. A well trained weaver,

Ewald Reetz, who had learned his
trade in Qermany, was employed
ag foreman for a period of three
years. In addition to his salary, he
was given a house, rent free, in
Fort Washington, which dwelling
was demolished in 1934, six acres
of ground and a barn. At the ex-
piratifon of his three year con.



tract, he was succeeded by Adolph
Mantel. :

It was later found that the water
power was fnsufficient and that it
was necessary to have control of
the water rights of the nearby
dam. To secure this, Flues was
required to get possession of forty
acres farther north on the Morris
Road. This tract did not join his
first purchase of eighty-nine acres,
but was in the same section, only
farther north, partly in Whitpain
and Upper Dublin Townships. In
this deed, he was given the right
to a mill pond, mill race, and dam,

A thriving Dbusiness was then
started for the manufacture of
dress goods, hair cloth, and mater-
ials for covering furniture, hat Hn-
ings, etc. The firm made a special-
ty I the weaving of a certain pn'}-
tern of shawl which was very fash.
fonable, worn as an outer garment
in place of the coat of the present
day. Mrs. Elizabeth Plumly of
Race street, Ambler, was employed
fn the mill in her early teens and
distinctly remembers this shawl
which was worn by women of all
ages. It was 2% yards long and |
yard wide, with fringed tassels
knotted to form designg. She in-
fcrms that much of the work con-
nected with the knotting of the
fringe was done at their homes
outside of the working hours of thoe
firm, and the money carned by the
girls was thereby considerably in-
creased,

The name “Sflk Mill,” and the
mulberry bushes which were nu-
merous near the building gave
many the impression that these
plants were cultivated in order to
raise cocoons for silk culture.
They were, on the other hand, only
planted for adornment, being of
the white variety and unsuited for
this purpose. A few bandanna
handkerchiefs which they once
manufactured were made from co-
coons they had recefved elsewhere.

These mulberry bushes, coupled
with the name made some think
that the factory was fdentified with
the multicaulis craze of 1839 which
struck the Eastern part of Pennsyl-
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vania and especially Montgomery
county—a speculative mania for the
cultivation of silk which had a
short existence,the glowing attrac-
tion of which allured so many to
financial ruin. This venture col-
lapsed after one year. Flues did
not make his purchase until 30
years later, so that the two cannot
be connected in any way.

For three years the firm wuas
most successful and had a profit
of $30,000 a year, through the oper-
ation of twenty looms and the labor
of one hundred employees, nearly
all of whom were Germans. Ewald
Reetz, a son of the foreman, in his
18th year made $36.00 a week, and
all who were employed made pro-
portionally good wages.

During the time that water was
the power used to opera’e the fac-
tory, a bell 24 inches in diameter,
tolled the hours to end the work of
the day. Steam power was finally
substituted for the former water
power and a steam whistle sup-
planted the tolling of the bell, This
bell is at present in the possession
of Zebedee Comly, and is on his
farm in Whitemarsh Township.

The plant was operated unti] tho
vear 1874, when the bhusiness was
closed out. There were several
causes which contributed to the
firm's decision to close the plant:
First the firm of Doland and Co. of
New York hegan to manufacture a
cheap imitation of the superior ma-
terials for garments manufacturerd
by Flues and Co.—a competition
which ruined thefr sales. Added
to this was the expense fncurred
by the shipment of the goods to the
N. Y. sales house—they wero un-
able to compete with similar manu-
facturing plants more favorably lo.
cated. The greatest loss to the
firm, however, wasg the result of
the sudden change of fashion In
women's dress, The fringed shawl
was no longer in demand. This
was the deciding factor in the clos-
ing ot the business which for threo
successlve years had operated with
enormous profits.

The late Eberhard Luttgen, a
son-in-law of Eberhard Flues, is au-



thority for the information that
when the firm closed their plant, a
large quantity of the warm gar-
ments they manufactured were do-
nated to Admiral Peary who was at
that time preparing for his expedi-
tion to the North Pole.

Fortunately Flues was able to
sell out his Interest in the business
to his partners at a fair price, who
operated later a similar factory in
New York

Flues then lived a retired
life on his estate until his death in
1896. During the years that Flues
resided in the locality, he took
great pride in a small factory neat
his dwelling house where he made
German cheese and in a dairy on
his plantation, fifteen acres of
which was a meadow suitable for
grazing. The first Jersey cows in
this country were imported by him
and placed on his farm. They
were named Buttercup, Talie and
Pink, All  his Dbusiness cards
which he {issued relative to his
manufacturing plant were adorned
with their photographs. One of
these cows was sold for the price
of $3000.00 to a member of the
Sharpless family who was in the
butter business.

When Eberhard Flues bought the
eighty-nino acre tract, he rosided
in a house on the East side of the
Morris road which stood near the
mill.  Later when he hought tho
forty acre tract, he vacated this
house and moved in the new home
on thoe forty acres on the west side
of the Morris road, and his old
home was taken by his farmer.
This Iast tract of land was pur-
chased in the year 1911 by Iidwin
Vare for $14,000 and ten years lat-
¢r was sold to Alice Roberts for
the sameo price or $360.00 an acre.

The house and barn on this tract
are still standing. The latter has
on it the inscription J. R. 1809,
which fnforms us that it was bullt
by Jacob Reiff, the owner, in that
yvear,

George Wallace purchased the
eighty-nine acre tract in the year
1923 tor $22,000, slightly less than
Flues paid for it in 1864, He filled
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in the tail race of the former mills
which was 1200 feet long, 12 by 14
feet deep and 20 feet wide, at a
cost of $7,000. He was at no ex-
pense for the dirt needed to fill
in the race as it was supplied to
him free of cost by the North Penn
Raliroad, when they made their ex-.
cavation for the tunnel helow Fort
washington. The buildings of the
factory and the nearby farm house
were in ruins for many years, and
in 1901, a fire destroyed the last
vestige of the old land mark.
Fortunately we have a photo-
graph of the factory and nearby
bufldings preserved for us in
Scott’s Atlas of Montg. Co., pub-
lished in 1877 in which {t is called
“Flues” Worsted Millg,”” a name
more appropriate because of the
character of the goods they manu-

factured.
ELLIGER PARK AND ITS AS-

SOCIATION WITH FLUES'

SILK MILL
Mlliger Park, situated on the
Bethlehem Pike north of Fort
Washington, has bheen developed

within the past ten years by tho
Ambler Realtors, Potts Brothers.
This tract of eighty acres had been
known for many years as "The Elll-
ger Estate;” and so, Iin choosing a
name, the Potts Brothers called it
“Elliger Park” realizing that be-
cause of its situation, and the many
and beautiful old shade trees, a
picturesque and park-like residen-
ttal section could be developed.
There are now many fine and
handsome homes in this section.
Standing apart from these, and
facing tlre Bethlehem Plke is tho
old summer homo of h. Georgo
Eliger, bearing the date 1796,
which he purchased in 18656 in
order to have a summer home
ahout half-way between his offices
in Allentown and Philadelphia. In
recent years, this old homestead
has bheen attractively remodeled
to its original style by Mrs. Henry
B. Bartow, the present owner.
Dr. Elliger was closely identl-
fied with this locality, where heo
made his summer home. His sec-
ond daughter, Natalie, married Eb-



erhard Flues, who conducted the
silk mill on the Morris road.

In 1857, Dr. Elliger purchased
six acres of land in the same sec-
tion as the eighty acre tract, but
on the west side of the Rethlehem
Pike, and it was in the lhouse on
this property, which was demol-
ished in 1934, that e foreman of
the silkx mill Hved.

Dr. Elliger's reputation in his
career as a physician was not con-
fined to the localities where he
practiced, His indefatigable and
earnest labors for the Homeopathic
School of Medicine had made him
known in the country at large, He
was born in the German Kingdom
of Saxony in 1802, and received his
education and medical degree in
the German schools, He emigrated
to America and opened an offico
at 1112 Spring Garden street, Phil.
adelphia, and also in Brooklyn, N.
Y. He shuttled between these two
cities and in both became well
known as a physcian of the new
school. His enthusiasm in his
work coupled with his charming
personality gained for him a high
position in the field of medicine in
which he was interested. He died
suddenly in his Brooklyn oftice,
February 22, 1878..

FAUST'S TANNERY

The locality situated at the in.
tersection of Bethlehem Pike ana
Butler avenue, has been called
Rose Valley since 1878. Beforo
that year it was known as Glilky’s
Corner, named for Andrew Gilke-
son who kept the Inn and corner
store. The reputation of this cor-
ner as a live bhusiness center, which
ft has held for many ycars, i3 duo
to a large extent to a tannery estab.
Hshed here, an industry which pro-
duced leather, made later by the
local saddler into harness,

This tannery was established by
Jonathan Thomas in 1790, in which
year he purchased from Andrew
Gilkeson and his wife, Edith, %
an acre for 22 pounds and 10 shill-
ings, the tract on which the tan-
nery of the present day stands,

Thomas was the owner of two
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tracts of 22 and 25 acres of Iand
in the locality, which he bought
from John and Elzabeth Burk,
He desired, however, a location
near a stream of water and having
a frontage on the Bethlehem pike
and since the land he owned did
not give him these advantages, he
purchased the %% acre in order to
be provided with the good business
opportunities this location offered.

Jonathan Thomas, we presume,
operated the tannery until his
death in 1808, Two years later his
oldest son, David, who in the deed
is called “a store keeper of Abing-
ton,” sold the property to James
Rutter of Pottstown. The house
in which Rutter resided after the
purchase of the tannery, stood by
the Bethlehem plke, n route taken
hefore the days of the railroad by
many farmers and tradespeople
to reach Philadelphfa. Many people
who took this route were res-
idents of Lehigh County and own-
ers of tanneries which they oper-
ated in connection with thelr
farms, and among these farmers
was John Faust who lived in Ma.
cungle Township in Lehigh Coun-
ty eight miles from Allentown.
During each trip he made, he never
failed to stop at James Rutter's
home where ne would stay over
night to rest, that he might con-
tinue his trip to Philadelphia more
comfortably on the following day.

Mutual business interests and
congenianl tastes resulted in a
strong friendship between theso
two men and when John Faust's
son, Alvin, became of age, he made
the decision to learn the tanning
trade with James Rutter, his fath.
er's frlend, In whose home he
would be given the opportunity to
learn English while he was learn-
ing the business. For this privi.
lege ho was to work for his board
and was fo recelive no wages. The
time for this contract was one venr,

At the expiration of the vyear,
young Faust was much surprised
because Rutter voluntarily gave
him $6.00 a week for the whole
period of time that he had lived
with them, This was repeated the



following year. When the second
contract expired, Alvin Faust de-
cided to purchase the tannery and
make his home in this locality, so
in the year 1850, he purchased of
Ji.mes Rutter seven acres on which
the tannery stood for $3000.00. He
brought his family here the fol-
lowing year and made his residence
in g house on this tract, a home fat
from the choice of the good wife
who came from Lehigh County; a
portion of the house had been used
for a cocoonery when the multi-
caulfs craze of 1839 struck Mont.
gomery County and much labor
was required in order to make it
the home to which she had been
accustomed, It was torn down in
1867 and on its site a substantial
brick house was crected, now 928
Butler avenue,

In 1866, Alvin Faust bought an-
other tract of land from James
Rutter which comprised 28 acres
for which he paid $4400.00. The
house on this tract was the home
of Rutter, and was reached by a
lane which in the present day
runs parallel with Argyle avenue.
Alvin Faust lived in this house un-
t{l his death, having removed here
when he vacated the house on 928
Butler avenue. An addition was
made (o thfs house In 18567 and in
1862 he built on the property a dis-
tinctive ILehigh County barn to
replace one which was in need of
much repafr. In 18656 he bhought
the double house and about ftive
acres back of the tannery . The
corner house was bought in 1871
from the heirs of Andrew Gilkeson,

Alvin Faust died May 10, 1884;
his wife Catherine, was his admin-
istrator. They had flve sons; Al-
vin, who managed the farm; Mil.
ton, Samuel and Edwin, who op-
erated the tannery at Rose Val-
ley, and Richard, manager of the
tannery located on the Junfata
River, which was purchased fn 1873
by the Faust family for the pur-
pose of boing assured of an abun-
dance of Oak bark, needed in the
process of tanning for thefr mills,

The Faust’s produced at the
Rose Valley tannery, the finest
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leather made in the United States
and with great dificulty were able
to Al the demand for russet
leather for which they received
sixty-five cents a pound. Their
hides were obtained largely from
the packing houses of Chicago,
but a few were imported from Ger-
many, France and Switzerland.
They made on the average of three
hundred hides weekly.

Four hundred sides were re-
celved every week from the Mt.
Union plant they owned in Hunt
fngdon County, and finished at
Rose Valley. The process of the
work, which required from eight
to eleven months, was a most in-
teresting one. One hundred vats
in the tannery contained bark
liquors. There were six large ones
called “leeches” in which the
liquor was made and from these it
was drawn as required in the
other vats. The hides were soaked
in the vats two days to soften them
then were hung in lime water 8ix
days to loosen the halr, after
which they were ~ut, making two
sides, and passed through revolv-
ing knives that removed the hair
and surplus flesh. The hair was
disposed of to plasterers, and the
flesh used to make a fine brand of
glue. They used from forty to fifty
carloads of bark for their tanning
every year and in ‘1912, their out.
put of sides was aix hundred every
week, Owing to this heavy demand,
they were sometimes unable to
fill all the orders they received.
Later, when they were unable to
obtain the large quantities of oak
bark needed, they resorted to the
barreled extract. In 1896, their old
drying room was insufficiently
ventilated for the increase of bus.
iness, and they were required to
add a second floor to the building.

When Alvin Faust bougnt the
tannery in 1860, it was operated by
water power. In 1862, steam power
took the place of water, and in 1903,
a 125 horse-power engine supplant-
ed the steam.power. In the years
ot the Civil War, they ground their
bark by means of horse-power
through a construction which re-



quired the horse to walk on a circu
lar track about five times a minute.
At first, they had no fire protection,
but in 1899, they installed a com-
plete fire extinguishing apparatus,
including a pump capable of forc-
ing five hundred gallons of water
per minute, which was placed in a
fire-proof hofler house. With a
supply of five hundred feet of hose,
and a stream of water {n prox-
imity to the mill, they were wéll
equipped against the outbreak of
fire.

In the Centennial exhibition held
in Philadelphia in 1876, Kaust's
displayed a tan hide measuring ten
feet each way, which was sold be-
fore the close of the exhihition to a
firm of belt munufacturers of
Lowell, Mass,, known as Josiah
Gates & Son. An advertising sign
displayed by the Faust firm at this
memorable exhibition s still in
the possession of the family and
occupies a prominent place on the
walls of thefr building at Rose
Valley.

The Tannery was not equipped
with any machinery whereby they
could split leather and when they
wished tc have this work done,
they were required to go to Phila-
deiphia to a man named Edward
B. Ritchie, who made belting fov
driving machinery. During the
time of the Civil War, a visit was
made to Ritchie’'s place of bus-
iness, who asked Mr, Faust if the
leather he brought to him was for
war purposes. Ritchie was a
Quaker and opposed to war, and
when Faust replied in the affirma-
tive, Ritchie said to him, “I wiil
do the work for thee thig time,
gince thee has brought it to me,
but 1 will not do any more for thee,
if thee uses it for such a purpose.”

Another story tells us of Alvin
Faust's experience with Joseph
Howell, of the same religious
faith, who was a leather commis.
slon merchant to whom Faust
sold leather. Howell had pur-
chased Faust's leather, and when
the latter asked for a settlement
of thefr transaction, Howell, re-
plied, “The leather I bought of thee
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the last time was better than thee
represented, and 1 allowed thee
extra on this sale.” The incident
is typical of the high standard of

busfness relations of the Rose
Valley Tannery.
The plant at Rose Valley con-

tinued in a prosperous condition
until the advent of the automobile,
The horse-power was digplaced by
the motor; the heavy teams by the
truck; the pleasure carriage by the
automobile; thus creating a much
less demand for leather. As a re-
sult, the passing of many tanneries
throughout the country is one of
the many changes the present gen-
eration has witnessed.

The tannery at Rose Valley was
operated by Jonathan Thomas
twenty years; by James Rutter
forty years, and the Faust family
eighty-five vears. Its history would
be incomplete without a backward
glance at the personality of these
worthy residents who operated this
fmportant industry in the locality.

Jonathan Thomas was the son of
Abraham Thomas and was born 1n
May, 26, 1760. He married” Allce
Jarret, a member of one of the
thirteen families who settled QGer-
mantown under Pastorius. They
had eight children. Their son,
George, was the first physician to
have an office and practice med{-
cine In the locality of the present
Borough of Ambler. Isaac¢, another
son, was for forty years its post-
master. He purchased a large tract
of his father’'s real estate holdings
fn Upper Dublin Township, and
some of his descendants are resi-
dents of the Borough in the pres-
ent day, residing on some portfon
of their ancestral land. These iIn-
clude the children of Dr. Albanus
Styer and Samuel Shoemaker. The
children of the former, whose wife
was a daughter of Isaac Thomas,
are Samuel Styer, now retfred and
living in Philadelphia, and Mus.
Tacy Acuff, nee Styer, who is re.
siding at Langhorne, Pa.

Jonathan Thomas’ daughter, Re-
beccn, married George Kitzwater,
and we are told in the genealogy
of the Fitzwater family that Jon-



athan Thomas was a cabinet maker
and undertaker as well as tanner,
and that it was his custom to have
a large stock of coffins on hand to
meet any ecmergency that might
arise in case of a calamity in the
country or epldemic that would
make an occasion for their need.

The sight of the porch of their
new home, filled to its full ca: reity
with ready made coffins, whi ' met
the gaze of his wife, Alice, when
she arrived as a bride to the new
home Jonathan had provided for
her, filled her with awe, but with
tact and good Jjudgment, she in-
fluenced her husband to find a belt.
ter way.

James Rutter, the sccond owner
of the tannery, married Mary Good.
Her home was the store opposite
the tannery. Her parents were
much opposed to the frequent
visits of James to their home and
kept Mary under close observa
tion In order to prevent their
meeting. James and Mary, how-
ever, found a way. Mary had =«
sympathizing friend who resided
with the family, and we are told,
that with her help, on a stormy
night, with the wind howling out-
stde, in spite of locked doors and
watchfui attendant, Mary was safe-
Iy landed from the second story
window to the ground heneath by
means of an improvised rope.
James, by a prearranged plan, was
ready to meet her.

The clopement of James Rutter
and Mary Good, we feel sure, was
the topic of conversation for many
a day beside their neighbor’s fire-
side. They lived happily together
in the house up the lane, which in
the present dsay runs parallel with
Argyvle avenue, until Mary's death,
when James sold his real estate
holdings of forty years and lived a
retired life in Philadelphia with
his two daughters, Ruth Ann and
Jane.

The second of the Faust family
who succeceded James Rutter ~hs
the owner of the Tannery is well
known in the present day. The
superior quality of their products
and the high standard of their bhus.
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iness methods gained for them a
reputation for integrity that was
recognized by all the residents in
the community. As time went on
and the little village became an
incorporated Borough, there was a

call for trustworthy citizens to
fill responaible positions in f{ts
management., The borough was

most wise in the selection of mem-
bers of the Faust family to fill
these, as the close of its history
almost fifty years later has demon-
strated. .

In 1887, Edwin Fa:st was appoint
ed treasurer of the Independent
School District, which was estab.
lished in 1881. He resigned from
this office in 1895 to become treas-
wrer of the Borough schools, an
office he holds in the present day.
His son, Willlam Faust, served
faithfully and honorably the local.
ity for forty years as a trustworthy
official of the local bank; and
Samuel Faust, the son of Alvin and
Catherine, his wife who purchased
the tannery in 1850, at his death in
1933, had heen the Borough treas-
urer for 37 years,

TOLL GATES IN AMBLER

In the early history of the coun-
try, the bad conditions of the roads
made traveling from place to
place very difficult, and especial.
ly hazardous in the spring when
quicksands were frequently en-
countered. There naturally arose
a demand to improve these con-
ditions and through-out the coun-
try, turnpike companies were
formed by the citizens, who rebuilt
and kept in repair the more im-
portant highways. The roads most
frequently traveled were ‘“piked,”
that is, a bed of stone was built on
them, which in time as a result of
the travel, formed a foundation or
road-bed on some solidity. The
giones uged for this purpose wero
crushed on the roadside itself ,by
hand, with the use of a large ham-
mer. When these highways were
thus changed or ‘“turned” in their
character, they were called “turn-
pikes.”

Since money was required for
the upkeep of these pikes, toll had



to be coilected for that purpose.
Therefore, to stop the travellers
and collect their toll, gates were
placed generally every 2% or 3
miles ¢n the pikes. These gates
could be raised or lowered as the
occasion demanded to let the travel-
lers come and go.

Some shelter had to be provided
for the convenience and comfort of
the man who collected the toll, so
a small house attached to the gate
was buiit by the turnpike company
as a place of residence for him and
his family. Al hours of the day
and night, the keeper of the gate
was on duty to collect the pennies
from the people who passed by.

The road for public travel known

in (he present day as Butler Pike.

or Butler avenue, was incorporated
by an act of Assembly of the Com-
monweath of Pennsylvania as a
turnpike on January 15, 1853. On
this route of travel, which extend.
ed from Plymouth Meeting to the
Limekiin Pike, two toll gates, one
at Broad Axe and the other near
Three Tuns, were erected.

Three years later, in 1856, the
railroad was built through this
gsection of the country and there
arose a new problem.

The station at Ambler was lo-
cated on the highway which passed
through these two toll gates and as
there was no toll gate in its vicin-
ity, the Directors of the Turnpike
Co. thought that it would increase
their toll revenue it one was placed
near it, so they built one on But-
ler avenue near the terminus of
Maple street as it exists in the
present day. This location was
chosen in order to collect toll from
those who came to the station by
way of Reiff's Mill road. We are
informed by Samuel Shoemaker
that the railroad took advantage of
the proximity of the gate to the
station andq in its early years em-
ployed Samuel Shull, the gate
keeper, as agent for the sale of
passenger tickets.

After the building of the rall.
road there was a large shipment of
milk from the Ambler station, sur-
passing that of any other station
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between Phila. and Bethlehem.
This meant that there was a cor-
responding increase of travel on
the highway leading to the station
in the early mornings as the farm-
ers from near and far brought their
milk for shipment. An equal num-
ber of shippers came to Ambier
from both sides of the rallroad.
Toll could be collected from those
who came from the West side, at
the gate located near Maple street.
The farmers from the East side
however, could reach the station
without paying toll. ‘This the
farmers from the opposite side ob-
jected to as it gave their competi.
tors an advantage.

The Directors of the turnpike
listened to these objections, and
anxious to see justice done and al-
80 Increase their revenue, they
erected on the East side, a gate
with a small unpretentious build.
ing for the gate keeper and collect.
ed toll in the early morning hours
only. The location of this gate
was at the present intersection of
Main street and "~ Butler avenue,
Main street was not laid out at
that time and when it was opened
for travel later, the gate stood {n
the center of the Intersection of
these two streets.

Due to ercection of creameries
throughout the country, a large
part of the milk shipped decreased,
and the toll revenue diminished
accordingly. The house and gate
at Maple street began to need re-
pair, but the Directors decided to
discontinue this gate because of
its proximity to the one on the op-
posite side; so in 1878, the West
gato was closed permanently. The
remnants of the old building were
sold to a farmer who resided on
the Skippack pike and the *“Hat-
boro Spirit” ot November 16, 1878
said, “The Turnpike Company has
taken out the old pump that went
with the toll gate and filled up the
well where the toll house formerly
stood.”

The two gates were from this
time on consolidated into one, and
a substantial house was erected
for the gate-keeper at the inter-



section of Main St. and Butler ave-
nue, where toll continued to bhe
collected.

The time came when an effort
was made to have the gate ahan-
doned. Little was accomplished,
however, until 1888, when the lo-
cality was incorporated as a Bor-

ough, In that vea-°, one hundred
and twenty-one residents peti-
tioned the Court to abolish the

gate, and on January 20, 1890, that
body decreed that “the portion of
the Plymouth and Upper Dublin
Turnpike within the limits of the
Borough of Ambler shall be con-
demned for public use; made free
from tolls and toll gates, and main-
tained thereafter as other roads in
the Borough are required to be
maintained.” :

One month later, February 9,
the toll. house was destroyed by
fire together with the store proper-
ty at the northeast corner of Main
street and Butler avenue, and the
nearby hotel sheds, This event
marked the end of the forty-four
vears that toll was collected in the
locality.

Much regret was felt by thove
who loved the old land-marks when
this fire took away the little to!l
house which had so many interest-
fng associations. f[n a small room
on the second floor. public meet-
fngs were often helda for the dis-
cussion and deciding of local
affairs. The Independent Sechool
district rented the same for $1.25
a month., The gate-keeper, Fred-
erick Huffnagle, had a shoe repair
shop in a small room on the first
floor, which he managed in addi-
tion to his duties as toll collector.
The public, however, whose objec-
tions to paying toll on a busy high-
way, outweighed these sentiments
hailed with delight the deci-
sion of the Court and the destruc-
tion of the gate by fire.

The following letter was writ-
ten by Thaddeus Kenderdine of
Newtown, Bucks County, who had
rented the conl yard of George
Knight, where the freight yard of
the Raflroad exists in the present

day, gives us the personal opinion
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of a business man of the day as it
refers to the toll gate.

HISTORY OF 36 ACRES

“In this year of 1873, I say good-
bve to Ambler and my place of
business in that village. [ took a
three years lease of a coal yard
which is owned by George Knight.
This place of business before 1
took it was operated by 2 men of
the singularly appropriate names
of Cole and Wood. Even that fa-
cetious name could not make the
business go, and how glad they
must have been when they unload-
ed it on me.

“No one should be blamed for
their efforts to unload when the
first easy goer comes along. It is
on the edge of a village, and there
is no way to reach it without being
held up by a toll gate man, whose
coign of vantage is at the end of
my lane. The other coal yard can
be reached without being obliged
to pay any duty. Ambler is noisy
enough by the going of the trains
on the railroad night and day, hut
ag none of the passengers stop oft
to buy my stock in trade, noises
avail me nothing. The railroad
has eéven ceased to make the town
grow. There are twenty-five scat-
tered houses all of frame but five,
all of which, with the exceptton of
three, are on the East slde of the
railroad, and that is all there has
been of it for some years they tell
me.

“1 guess Mr. ‘Knight will have a
hard time to find another sucker
like me. It might be a good loca-
tion if some one would set fire to
that toll gate. It is queer I never
thought that might hurt my busi-
ness. My! but some people are
stingy; would not come near me
because they would have to pay
two cents!”

Twenty-five years later, Thad-
deus Kenderdine was still living
when the toll gate was abandoned,
and undoubtedly, shared his joy
with that of the residents of Am-
bley when toll was no longer col-
lected from those travelled on the
main highway of the Borough of
Ambler,

In the year 1832, Isaac Thomas



purchased fourty-six acres that
were detached from the tract of
eighty-threo acres which Mary Da-
vid had granted to Andrew Ambler
for. the sum of $1581.00. This piece
of land was situated in the section
of the first ward, in the present
Borough, = with the approximate
boundary lines of Main and Hen-
dricks streets on the east and
west, and Butler and Forrest ave-
nues on the north and south. There
wag included in this purchase, as
we are informed in the deed, a
chopping and sawmill, located at
the northeast corner of Spring
Garden street and Butler avenue,
and a house for the sawyer, stili
standing at the northeast corner of
Race and Spring Garden streets.

Isaac Thomas was a prominent
man in the tocality. He owned
fifty-three acres of ground, which
was held by the Thomas family
since its purchase early in 1700.
For forty years, he kept the Post
Office in his gencral store situated
in Upper Dublin Township on the
Bethlehem Pike, at the terminus
of Icuclid avenue of the present
day. He owned the thirty-six acre
tract purchased from Andrew
unti! the year 1865, when radical
changes began in  the icoality,
Isaac Thomas was then seventy-
two years of age and his interest
in the business affairs was begin-
ing to wane.

Jonathan Lukens, a well known
builder and woodsman of Gwynedd,
saw a chance for prosperous de-
velopment in this region hecuause
of the sawmill on Thomas' tract,
which could bhe used to advantage
in his building operations, the
abundance of timber, and the prox-
imity to the rallroad, which after
ten years of its existence was be-
ginning to make the locality at-
tractive for homes. Seeing no risk
fn the purchase of the thirty-six
acres, Lukens bought them for
$7125, with full confidence in him-
self and his ability to carry
through successfully the project of
forming a town and realizing con-
siderable financial resuits.

It was a beautiful spot. The two
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streams of water which coursed
their way through the grounds be-
fore entering the Wissahickon,
made the valley very picturesque
and inspired everyone to think of
goodness and loveliness.

The Board of Managers of
Swarthmore College, who, a short
time previous to the sale of this
site to Lukens, were in quest of a
place on which to erect their Col-
lege, recognized this location as
the most beautiful in the suburbs
of Philadelphia. Here was an ideal
situation: the Wissahickon and its
tributaries, and a valley with a
great variety of scenic effects. By
a very small rmajority of votes, the
choice of the Board fell to the lo-
cation in Philadelphia, near Media,
and the sale of these acres was
muade instead to l.ukens, who had
in view only the financial advant-
ages with no thought of its proser-
vation for its romance and beauty,

James Keisgel, n competent sur-
veyor, was employed by lLukens at
once, and ten acres were laid ont
into building lots. Streets were
planned, and the orchard, even
though laden with luscious fruits,
was destroyved, as was all other
grown greens. Fortunately, how-
ever, a small section bhetween Itor-
rest and Butler avenue, near Ridgo
and Hendricks street, was sold to
Charles Childs, who built an ele-
gant mansion on the most elevat-
ed portion ond who preserved
there its original beauty which was
still evident many years later dur-
ing its ownership by the Hart fam-
ily.

Lukens, planning his town, first
laid out Main street, and ervected
on it four houses. He planned the
parallel streets of Walnut, Forrest
avenue (then called Harts avenue)
Race street (Water street), Ains-
worth street and Spring Garden
street. Several lots were sold for
which he realized $50.00 for fifty
feet front. Many sales were made,
but he could find no one to pur-
chase the ncrth side of Butley ave-
nue which was very discouraging;
he thought it good business policy
to dispose of the less desirable



ones first. These lots were then
thought objectionable locations for
homes because of the steep .-
cline of their banks and tae
stream of water which ran through
their center.

Jonathan Lukens was very
anxious to dispose of these lots as
financial reverses were beginning
to creep upon him. It is related by
Samuel Shoemaker that at this
time, Lukens approached his fath
er, Charles Shoemaker, hoping
that he could induce Mvy. Shoe-
maker to make the purchase, as
Isaac Thomas, the former owner
of the land. was Shoemaker's fath-
er-in-law, and that he might be in-
terested because of the sentiment
attached to it.

Shoemaker was a Quaker, there-
fore, Lukens, in order to get into
cloge, contact with him, diplomati-
cally used the language of that
sect when he said, “I will sell theeg,
Charles, all the tract of ground ly-
ing on the north side of Butler ave-
nue between Spring Garvden street
and the bridge near Hendricks
street for $200.00, with a depth of
250 feet.” Charles thought that
it had no future prospect, hence
he asked, “What could I dv with

it?"  Lukens replied, “Pasture thy
cows in it.” “Pasture my cows!'
If 1T ever put my cows there I

would never find them again.” .,
and the sale was not made.

Much discouraged, Lukens tried
to make up this loss of valuable
land by purchasing five acres of
the Reiff estate in the section of
the railroad front with the inten-
tion of starting a coal yaro. He
secured the front, but the Railroad
Company refused to run in a
switch, giving as an excuse that
there would be no business. How-
ever, through the influence of
Charles Shoemaker, a close friend
of Frank Comly, president of the
railroad, the delayed switch was
laid, and IlL.ukens began the estab-
Jishment of a prosperous coal busi-
ness. The revenue, however, dur-
ing his ownership was not enough
to meet expenses, and only added
to his financial reverses. lLater,

39

David Knipe, rented the yard for a
short time, selling it to Joseph
Stackhouse in 1873, who, in turn,
sold it to J. Watson Craft.

The saw mill owned by Lukens,
also resulted in financial loss ow-
ing to the large amount of money
he was obliged to spend when ne
put Race street on his map, Race
street, was so called because it
ran parallel with the race which
supplied the mill with water. In
order to get an outlet at Spring
Garden street, the contour of the
forebay there had to be changed,
giving the street at this location
a distant curve, still evident today.
I.ater, he realized that this work
was a loss of time and money, for
great changes had come in a short
space of time. The standing tim-
ber in the surrounding section of
the country, on which he was de-
pendent for the successful opera-
tion of his saw mill, was getting
scavce, His mill was primitive in
its construction; he was unable to
compete with the great mills far-
ther west, which were equipped
with machinery of meodern type
and located where there were still
vast forests. This change of
events, unforseen by Jonathan
Lukens, spelled the doom of the
saw mill in Ambler and its exis-
tence soon became only a memory
to the oldest residents.

In 1873, nearly ten vears after
he purchased the thirty-six acre
tract, the outlook for the sale of
his holdings on Butler avenue be-
came more encouraging through
the sale in that year of a vacant
lot to Thomas Hulschizer for which
he recefved $850.00. This enor-
mous price was paid by Hulschizer
in order to encourage lLukens, who
was his personal friend. The same
lot was sold fifteen years later for
$350.00, less than half the price
paid for it.

Notwithstanding this sale, Lu-
kens' dream of making a town and
replenishing his financial re-
sources now began to vanish. The
fatlure of his ~oal yard, the disas-
ter of the mill, the great expense
incurred in operating it, the les-



sening of the number of lots sold,
put him heavily in debt and
brought the need of money to meet
his financial obligations.

In this crisis, he sold some lots
for as low as $35.00 in order to
satisfy his creditors. This result-
ed in the loss of sume friends who
thought that he had not dealt fair-
Jy with them for the great price
they had paid for the land which
they had purchased from him. The
loss of these friendships, the fi-
nancial loss he met, the realiza-
tion of his failure, undermined his
health and caused his untimely
death. It would seem as though
the frony of fate had been almost
cruel to this worthy citizen. A
man of most exemplary habits,
filled with the spirit of honest en-
deavor, died with remorse and hu-
miliation because of his failure in
life.

The future history of this thirty-
six acre tract proves, on the con-
trary, that his life was not a fail-
ure. The well paved streets,
which he planned in the heart of
the Borough, filled with many hap-
py homes and their increased valu-
ation from time to time are the
monuments of Jonathan Lukens.
Others of his own time and genera-
tion lived to see his colossal
dreams of the future of the locality
become a reality. They lived to
see it teaming with life, happiness
and prosperity. These could bear
witness to the truth of the say-
ing, “One man reaps Wwhat
another sows,” as evidenced by the
later history of the holding of this
property. These lots, almost
worthless and unsaleable during
his early ownership, a few years
later, or in 1933, with but a mecagre
pretension of a building thereon
had an assessed valuation of $40,
000 for forty front feet.

Jonathan Lukens ventured and
lost:; others reaped the harvest.
10 ACRES IN THE BORO OF
AMBLER

In the year 1868, Isaac Thomas
sold a tract of ten acres of his
real estate holdings in the locality
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now the Borough of Ambler to his
son-in-law, Charles Shoemaker, for
which the latter paid $2500.00. This
land had a frontage on Butler ave-
nue from Lindenwold avenue, to
Spring Garden street. and in depth
extended to Poplar street. The
time of the purchase of this tract
corresponds approximately to the
period when Jonathan Lukens was
planning to transform the unde-
veloped thirty-six acres lying on
the opposite side of Butler avenue

into a community with building
sites and street.
Unlike Lukens, however, Shoe-

maker was not an adventurer. He
purchased the land, not for specu-
lation, but for the purpose of erect-
ing one house on it for his perma-
nent home, and holding the ground,
which was at this time a field of
wheuwt, for cultivation.

Shoemaker had only recently
moved into the locality. He had
but a short acquaintance with it
made ‘through visits to his friend,
Dr. Albanus Styer, who resided
in the nearby locality. This friend-
ship began when the latter visited
the drug store of Shoemaker's
father, located at 2nd and Button-
wood streets, in  Philadelphia,
where Charles Shoemaker as a
voung man assisted in the busi-
ness. As a result of this friend-
ship, Shoemaker later made fre-
quent visits to his friend in the
country, and at such times, social
affairs were arranged by Dr. Sty-
er for the entertainment of his
city visitor. On one of these oc-
casions, Charles made the acquain-
tance of Susanna, the vivacious
and gracious daughter of Isaac
Thomas, whom he later made his
wife.

There was much sentiment
therefore, attached to the pur-
chase of the ten acre tract of the
ancestral land of his wife. Tho
proximity of the railroad station
enabled him to readily take his
daily trips to Philadelphia where
he had business interests; the con-
venience of the village stores and
Post Office also appealed to him



as a suitable place for his future
home.

The house Charles Shoemaker
erected is in the present day 60
Butler avenue, now occupied by
William Hough. It is of frame
structure, with sixteen rooms and,
with the exception of the porch
floors which were made of North
Carolina pine, was made of lumber
sawed at the saw mill of his father-
in-law, Isaac Thomas. The mill was
located opposite to the house where
the American store is now Jocated.
The house was built by day’s work
and the carpenter who did most of
the work on it, walked every day
to Ambler from his home in Hat-
boro. This daily walk of 12 miles
did not prevent him from giving
a full day’s service to his job.

The house was distinctive {n its
day because it was furnished with
a bath room. A home supplied
with thfs modern necessity was at
that time considered a novelty,
and it was quite usual for persons
who travelled on the highway on
the roadside of which the dwelling
stood, to have their attention di-
rected to the “house which had a
bathroom.”

Another distinctive feature of
the house was the masonry vault
built below the level of the cellar
and opening into a well at its side,
which was used as a cool chamber
for the preservation of perishable
foods. At the time of the erection
of the house, Pasteur’s discovery
of bacterial invasion was not then
known, the modern methods of re-
frigeration was not yet adopted,
and the housewife, in order to keep
her butter from melting, her meat
from spoiling, and her milk from
souring, had recourse to one of
three methods: the spring house,
cellar vault, or outside vault.

In the Borough, two of these con-
structions still exist in the present
day to the delight of the historian.
The outside vault on Mt. Pleasant
avenue necar the Railroad crossing
built by the Thomson family near
their grist mill, and the cellar
vault built by Charles Shoemaker
of which the present sketch is in
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part a history. The third methoaq,
the spring house, also existed in
Ambler until recent years. This
interesting structure stood over
the spring of water near the home
of J. J. Radcliffe on Mattison ave-
nue. This latter medfum was the
preferred one for securing a slight
refrigeration.

As stated previously, Charles
Shoemaker bought his tract of ten
acres for farming purposes, and not
for speculation. However, very
soon after his purchase, he was ap-
proached by James Wampole, who
had recently sold his hotel near the
Ambler Station, at this time called
“Ambler Park Hotel,” who asked
him to sell a lot for the erection of
a house thereon, as he wished to
make his home in the locality. Not
withstanding Shoemaker's inten-
tion to keep his ten acres intact
for agricultural purposes, he could
not resist the temptation of a good
sale. He sold Wampole sixty feet
at the southeast corner of Butler
avenue and York street, for $500,
and Wampole built a substantial
house on the lot. This was the
second house built »n the ten acre
tract.

This lot extended to Poplar St.
and was later sold to Henry Jones.
It was purchased by John S. Bu-
chanan in 1884, who moved the
house to the rear portion of the lot
with the intention of erecting a
more substantial structure on its
former location. Owing to failing
health and his death a short time
later, his intention was never car-
ried out, and the vacant lot was
sold to J. M. Haywood who has
been the owner for many years.

Real estate operations were dull
for some time; and in the mean-
time Shoemaker continued to farm
the unsold portion of the ten acre
tract. Encouraged by his success
in this field of work, he increased
the extent of his real estate hold-
ings and purchased twenty addi-
tional acres extending from Lin-
denwold avenue on the east, Popu-
lar street on the north and joined
his former line on the west. The
Meehan Nurseries, at that time on



the south side of Poplar street
were situated on this tract.

Until 1878, the whole portion
was cultivated intensely. The
time had now come when there
were many changes in the borough:
the Post Office was moved from
Thomas' store on the Bethlehem
Pike to Butler avenue; Jonathan
Lukens’ real estate operations
had created many homes; the rafl-
road attracted many people, es--
pecially the farmers, whose ship-
ment of milk from Ambler, ex-
ceeded the exports of any other
station on the line between Bethle-
hem and Philadelphia, often ex-
ceeding in amount the capacity of
a car. These attractions made a
demand for homes and Shoemaker

found a ready sale for lots on
which buyers desired to erect
houses. Very soon his ten acre

farm land became the nucleus of
a prosperous village.

Third house on the ten acres was
built in 1878 by Henry Slutter, who
purchased 199 fee! on Butler ave-
nue, for the sum of $1000. This
was* the lot on which the Warner
theatre stands in the present day.
Two years later, Dr. Albanus
Styer bought the house on this
lot, and opened an office to con-
tinue his practice.

After this sale to Styer, Slutter
bought more ground from Shoe-
maker for $500. On this land, he
erected a home and a bhusiness
place. He was experienced car-
riage maker and employed eight
men throughout the year. He
usually made twenty-five new car-
ringes a year, in addition to doing
a large amount of repair work.
Henry Martin, the first real estate
operator in Ambler, had his office
in Slutter’s house. This property
was sold to Gernard Meyers, who,
after its purchase, converted the
carriage factory into a dalry and
milk shipping establishment.

In 1886, there was a declded
bchm in real estate because uf the
evident prosperity of the Keasbey
and Mattison Company, an indus-
trial plant established in 1881. The
sound business policies of this
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firm were giving proof of continued
prosperity and as a result, there
was a demand for the unsold por-
tion of his real estate. In this
year, John S. Buchanan bought
320 feet of land extending from
York street to lL.indenwold avenue.
He cut this into six building lots
which he sold to different indivi-
duals, and on these a row of Queen
Anne houses were erected by the
purchasers.

The first house was built by J. J.
Houghton, the cashier of the local
bank. Henry C. Biddle, the pres-
ent owner, purchased it in later
years.

A second house was erected on
the adjoining lot by Dr. C. B.
Hough, and John Buchanan erected
houses on the remaining lots for
speculative purposes.

The last building erected on the
ten acre tract was the Hotel Wynd.
ham on the southeast corner of
Butler avenue and Spring Garden
St. This was built by John D.
Cooper at an approximate cost of
$35,000, on a lot 140 feet in length
for which $6600.00 was paid. The
house contained forty-five rooms,
twenty-eight of these bedrooms. A
well 160 feet deep was dug which
gave a flow of water to supply the
hotel at the rate of fifty gallons a
minute.

Cooper secured a hotel license
in the year following the erection
of the bhuilding. A stable for forty
horses was built on the rear por-
tion of the lot, laid with plank
flooring and underground drvain-
age. This building also contained
an apartment and a section for
the storage of furniture. It wasg
destroyed by a fire of unknown
origin on November 2, 1922, and
was not rebuilt.

The property, now owned by
Mrs. Lydia Kerns, hasg served the
public for many years. The Post
Office was located in it from July
1, 1928 to June 30, 1932. 1t has
heen used as a polling place for
the second ward of the Borough in
election times Places of business
and professional offices located
within it have been patronized by



AWFUL ACCIDENT

on the North Fennsylvarus Rail Road on Thursday July 17% 1856

The above illustration is un exact duplicate of an old., authentic painting. The acci-
dent occured near the present Borougn of Ambler, which was chronicled in all the news-
papers of the time as the most disastrous of any known in railroad history. The name
of Mary Ambler was heralded far and wide due to her heroism in relieving the suffering
of the dving and wounded at the scene of the disaster. Her home was used as a temporary
hospital and sometime later officials of the railroad named the present station, Ambler,
in recognition of her humane work in an emergency.






First Public School erected by

the Independent School District in - O : H
1881 on the ground where tne pres-
sent Forrest Avenue school stands.

ra—

©

An Ash tree on Poplar street in
Ambler Borough on the property
the estate of Samuel Shoemaker
18 feet in circumference. Horace
Evans of Gwynedd Valley, an au-
thority on Forestry, claims that it
is approximately 260 years old.

It has the honor of being nomin-
ated in Wildman’s book published in
1933, entitled “Penn’s Woods”’ as
one of the oldest trees in the State,.







the public to their convenience
and satisfaction. Travellers un-
der the necessity of visiting the
locality for purposes of business
have found within its walls the
rest and comfort they desired.

Charles Shoemaker, who pur-
chased the ten acre tract, and his
wife, Susanna Thomas, had one
child, Samuel Shoemaker, born in
the old Thomas home (demolished
in 1896) on the southside of the
Bethlehem Pike near the terminus
of Euclid avenue. When the
house, now 60 Butler Avenue, was
completed, he moved into it with

his family, Here on ground owned

for generations by the Thomas
family, Samuel, the son, spent his
youth, childhood and old age. At
the time of his death, December 22,
1936, in his eighty-third year,
he was in possession of 232
feet frontage on Butler avenue
which was a portion of the
acre tract purchased by his father
in 1868. He was a man of intrinsic
worth, friendly and unassuming,
tvpical of his forbears who for gen-
erations had tilled the sofl, and
directed many business activities
in the locality now the Borough of
Ambler,

The Independent School District
of Ambler
The following history is com-

piled from the valuable historical
papers of Edward Hocker and
from the minute book of the Sec-
retary of the School now in pos-
session of the Ambler Borough
High school.

The Ambler Independent School
District was incorporated in the
vear 1881 in this locality, later
known as the Borough of Ambler
on the north Penna. raijlroad.

The residents saw the necessity
of forming such a school district
to overcome the inconveniences to
which the thirty-five or more chil-
dren living here were subjected.
The locality was at the converging
point of four townships, viz: Low-
er Qwynedd, Whitpain, White-
marsh, and Upper Dublin; and the
school district was the outgrowth
of the need for the children living
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in these particular parts of said
townships. According to the law,
each chijld was compelled to attend
the school in his or her respective
township: in Lower Gwynedd, the
Dager School on the Bethlehem
Pike, one mile above Rose Valley;
in Upper Dublin, the school on
Butler Pike near Puff’s Lutheran
Church; and in Whitemarsh town-
ship, the school on the Bethlehem
Pike one mile below Fort Wash.
ington, where school sessions are
still held.

Asg these schools were not cen-
trally located in the townships, a
considerable number of children
were subjected to inconveniences
of transportation. For this reason,
a movement was Inaugurated, prin-
cipally through the influence of
Dr. S. J. Schrawder, for the es-
tablishment of an Independent
School District which the Court
granted May 2, 1881, through a
petition signed by fifty tax-payers
and residents citing the facts. The
total cost of the organization of
the district was $208.07.

An election was held at the pub-
lic house of A. S. Acuff two weeks
later, May 19, 1881, when the fol-
lowing residents were designated
to serve as school directors by the
one hundred or more male electors
of the district: William Walker,
president; Dr. J. S. Schrawder,
secretary; Albert Beck, treasurer.
The latter resigned after serving
six months and was succeeded hy
David Ambler, who, in turn, was
succeeded In 1887 by Edwin Faust,
who served until 1896 when he re-
signed to become treasurer of the
borough schools.

The Board of Dlrectors of the
School held their meetings in a
room on the seccond floor of the
toll house, known as Huffnagle's
Hall, which they rented for $1.25 a
month. In accepting their office
as directors, they were obliged to
take the following oath, affirmed
and ascribed before the Justice of
the Peace, and placed on file: did
solemnly swear that they would
support the constitution of the
United States and the constitution



of the Commonwealth of Pennsyl-
vania and the laws thereof; and
that they had used no unlawful
means to procure their election to
the sald office of school director,
and that they would discharge the
duties of said office faithfully and
impartially, and to the best of their
understanding.

The first business of the Board
was the purchase of ground for the
erectfon of a school building. The
site of the present Forrest Avenue
School building was selected. Three
lots were bought from Nathan Hall
for $636, and two lots from David
Ambler for $400, affording a
frontage of 260 feet on Spring Gar-
den street and 160 feet on Forrest
avenue. In the deed, Forrest ave-
nue is called Lehigh avenue.

The contract for the huilding of
the school. which cost $2683, was
awarded to Albert Beck, July 16,
1881, This contract called for the
crection of a school building ot
one room, one story 14 feet high,
fnside blinds, cellar wall 20 fnches
thick, and to the attic 18 inches
thick, roof of Chapman slate No. 1.
The room to be wainscoted and the
walls rough coated. It specifies
that the front of the building is to
be 60 feet from IHart's lane. In
this specification, Forrest avenue
is called Hart's Avenue for Mary
Hart, a prominent resident who
owned much property in the local-
ity. In addition to the contract for
the building, $395.00 is granted for
500 feet of iron fence, 3 feet 6
inches high, to enclose the build-
ing, with two large posts at the
corner of the fence for two double
gates with the cost of freight in-
cluded. The architect. M. B. Bean,
of Lansdale, gave a bill of $5.00
for his services.

This huilding served the purpose
for which it was erected »ntil the
year 1884 whey the nwrber of
pupils exceeded forty in number.
Since it was necessary to provide
room for this increase, the property
committee was authorized “to em-
ploy a mechanic to divide the room
into two rooms, at least possible
expense, and to include a book
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case.” We are later informed that
the upper portion of this partition
was made of glass as requested by
the Principal, “that he might see
for himself any misconduct on the
part of the scholars.”

The school board applied to the
Court in September 1881 for au-
thority to issue bonds under the
regular school laws, which was
granted to the extent of $5000. Ap-
plication had previously been made
for a share of the State's appropri-
ation which was awarded through
the treasurers of the townships
from which the district was con-
stituted. According to the legal
requirement with the organfization
of the Independent School District,
the four townships in the district
were obliged to pay to the treas-
urer of the newly created district
sums of money proportionate to the
area of the assessed valuation of
land taken and amount of taxes
rcalized therefrom.

The principals employed were:
James Keisel from 1881 to 1882;
l.izzie Magee from 1882 to 1885;
A. H. Manderbach from 1885 until
the school was discontinued. ¥ote
Ambler was in charge of the b a-
avy department established in 1884.
She gerved six months and was
succeeded by "anny  Sagebeer
(Mrs. James Bartleson) who taught
until 1888, when lHannah Bean was
appointed. The latter served until
the school was discontinued.

The salary granted the principal
was first $40.00 a month, later in-
creased to 850 for a term of 10
months, or “as long as he does
justice to his pupils.” He was al-
lowed $10 a month for ‘“sweeping
and keeping the room clean.” It
is recalied by one who was an eye
witness to these occasions that he
always wore a wet sponge over
his nose and mouth,

The secretary and treasurer were
each granted a salary of $30 a year,
later reduced to $2b6. The supplies
for the school for the year ending
1882 cost $35.96 and the fuel $45.37,
coal costing at that time $4.76 a

ton.
The school tax of the District



started with 2% mills, increased in
1891 to 4 mills.

In 1884, Mrs. Mary Hart, a highly
esteemed resident, interested in
education, made a gift of $26.00 to
the school with the proviso that
the Directors expend that amount
in the purchase of books as Christ-
mas gifts to the children. The
Fatriotic Order Sons of America,
at thelr request, were granted the
privilege of placing two National
flags in the school room.

In the year 1889, the following
was adopted in regard to the ad-
mission of children to the school:
“No pupil shall be admitted to the
school after one week of date of
commencement of school except by
written consent of one of the
Board of Directors; and any pupfl
who is absent for two consecutive
weeks (absence from home and
sickness excepted) shall not be
re-admitted without the written
consent of one of the Board of Dir-
ectors.”

BEvidently the directors were not
in sympathy with Teachers’ Insti.
tutes when they were firgst organ-
ized, attendance to which was op-
tionol on the pnart of the teachers,
for in 1883, the motion was made
and carried “not to allow teachers
for the coming yecar time out of
school to attend Teachers' Insti-
tutes, but to teach the full ten
months, otherwise their salary
would bo decreased for time of
attendance at the same.” In 1887,
an act was passed by the Senate
and house of representatives of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
authorizing and requiring Boards
of School Directors to pay the
teachers employed in the various
districts for attendance at the
sessfons of the annual County In-
stitutes in their respective coun-
ties.

The locality in which the Inde-
pendent School District existed
was incorporated as & bhorough in
1888. The geographical lines of the
sciiool district and Borough, how-
ever, were not identical, and com-
plications and confusions were for
a time constantly occurring in re.
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gard to school matters. As a re:
sult of the close relationship of the
two, legal advice was frequently
required for their settlement.

The first controversy was in re-
lation to the ownership of the
school building. The Independent
District had built it and claimed its
ownership. It was on Borough land
The District appropriated $25.00
in order to get a ruling from the
Court in regard to its ownership.
The opinfon was filed July 7, 1890,
and this decision gave the school
building to the Borough, but it also
provided for the payment of the
Jatter of the bonded indebtedness,
and interest of the Independent
District. This sum amounted to
$3504.94. the Borough f{ssuing its
own bonds,

When the Borough was assured
of its ownership of the building as
a result of the Court's decision, it
took immediate steps to have it
enlarged in order to accommodate
the increased number of children
who were now residents in the
locality. In 1891, they expended
$7875 in the erection of an addi-
tion, with the second floor un-
finished until the following year,
which required an additional ex-
penditure of $1073. In 1896 an od.
dition was made which cost $4975.
These additions to the one-room,

one-story building erected by the
Independent School District to-
gether served the Borough as its
graded school until it was com-
pletely destroyed by fire IFebruary
20, 1926.

During the time that these al-
terations and additions were made
to the building, the sessions of the
school were held in a house on
Greenwood avenue rented for that
purpose.

December 9, 1891, the following
settlement of the adjustment of
the decree of school property,
moneys was made between the
Borough of Ambler and the Inde-
pendent School District being com-



pleted to the satisfaction of both
parties:

Dr.
Bonds against the District $3100.00
Interest on Bonds 111.24

3211.24

Cr.
$3501.94
$2.46
$3587.40
£3211.21

Schiool Bonds

Due to adjustment $376.16
Balance in the treasury Dec. 1

The area of the Independent
School District which the Borough
did not include was small in com-
parison to the area of the Boro;
‘nevertheless its value was com-
paratively very great, and when the
Court appointed appraisers to se-
cure the assessed valuation of the
two in order to get the amount of
taxation the District owed the
Borough the difference which as
we see from the above statement,
was only $376.16 because the Vare
estate was in this small area, the
valuation of which in the year 1805
was increased from $35,000 to
$100,000.

The Court decided the ownership
of the school "wilding and adjusted
the money matters between the two
districts. But again it had to be
appealed to, and this time it was in
regard to the education of the
thirty-five children living within
the area of the Independent School
District.

The Borough refused to adn: it

these children to its school tor sev-
eral reasons. The controversy be-
tween the two could have been
settled at once if the District could
have been dissolved or discontinued,
but this could not be done:; it was
in exdstence and had to be recog-
nized until it was dissolved by law.
There was a law to create it but as
yet there was none enacted to dis-
continue it. They therefore ap-
pealed to the Court for a decision.
This took time, and in the mean-
time, the controversy continued in
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regard to the ways and means of
educating the children residing in
the District which was outside the
Borough.

The latter district claimed that
legally they belonged to the school
in the Townships from which the
area was taken, or otherwise, the
District should erect {ts own build-
ing. The residents of the area were
unwilling to do this because of the
expense for such a small locality,
and favored the convenjence and
facilities of the Borough school.

The Borough claimed that it did
not have the power to admit these
children until they could make
satisfactory arrangements with the
citizens of the area in regard to the
rate of tuition, etc. The Independ-
ent District was not in a position
to do this because it had no direc-
tors. It had no treasurer to collect
taxes; all the former oncs were
residents of the Borough. Not one
resided in the area which the Boro
left out.

During the time required to get
the decision of the Court and get
these matters adjusted, the children
had many amusing experiences. The
parents would {nsist that the Boro
admit these children to its school
and the children, in obedience,
would make the attempt, meeting
only with remorse and humiliation
when the Borough refused. In a few
cases children were taken to other
localities and boarded with rela-
tives in order that their education
might not be interrupted.

The decision of the Court was
finally received and this decreed
that until such a time as the Dis-
trict could be dissolved, the Boro
must admit the children living in
the District to its school; that the
District must continue to hold its
meetings, select its own directors,
and pay over to the Boro its school
taxes. It also decreed that the
District must provide a suitable
place for its Directors to meet,
which also should be used as a
polling place for election, etc.

On June 6, 1891, in pursuance of
the decree of the Court, a building



was erected on the south side of
Mount Pleasant avenue, on the
property of John Thomson, between
the bridge and the railroad for the
use of the directors of the District
and as a polling place, at a rental
of $15.00 per month. At the follow-
ing election, and until the District
was dissolved, this building was
used, as was the custom with Town-
ships, for the purpose of electing
members of a school board for the
remaining District from which the
Boro was taken.

In the articles of agreement be-
tween the Independent School Dis-
trict and the Boro, Dec. 7, 1891, the
latter agreed to admit the children
of the District, thirty-ive in num-
ber, to its school for the considera-
tion of $1.26 a month for those of
the grammar and secondary depart-
ment. In 1908, the tuition was
raised for pupils under High school
grade to $20.00 a term, and for
those in the High school, $40.00 per
pupil. At the opening of every
school term, the child would get a
permit from the Independent
School District signed by the sec-
retary. This permit would be
given to the Borough School Board
to show they were children of the
District and to indicate number of
bills to make out for their tuition,

On January 30, 1911, the legisla-
ture passed a bfll to dissolve the
Independent School Districts in the
State as the necessity arose, and - on
that date, the Ambler District was
dissolved and passed into history.

The following residents served
as Directors of the Ambler Inde.
pendent School District.

Wm. C. Walker, Dr. J. S. Shraw-
der, Albert Beck, Joseph L. Reliff,
David Ambler, David Knipe, Ed-
mund Plumly, E. H. Johnson, Ed.
win Faust, Mary Acuff, Harrison
Rynear, S. T. Godfrey, H. W. B.
Reed, Louis Gusman, John S. Cress-
man. Hillery Vandegrift, B. W.
Mammel, Newton Myers, Jesse
Berkheimer, Wm. D. Lewis, Thos.
Scarlet, John J. Thomson, Robert
Cameron, Wm. R. Hallman, George

Shoenaker, A, H. Camburn, E. W,
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Markley, George DBowers, Wm,
Hedrick, E. 8. Landry, Richard
Ford, Morris Walker, Jacob Smith,
Stephan Gano, Lewis Valentine.

Montgomery County Agricultural
Soclety

The Fair of the DMontgomery
County Agriculturral Society,
which was held annually in Ambley
for ten consecutive years from 1870
to 1880, holds a prominent place in
the historic events of the County.
It brought together, during the
week it was held, thousands of peo-
ple, and made the little village well
2nown §n far sections of the county.

The Society had been in exis-
tence and had held a Fair many
years before it came to Ambler in
1870. It had a humble beginning
in the year 18456 when a few farm-
ers, residents of Norriton Town-
ship, met once a month in
the village school for sociability,
and discusions of subjects in which
they were mutually interested, es-
pecially in the line of agriculture,
These meetings soon developed into
occasions of a public nature and
the attendance became very large.
A Society was organized which
they called ‘“The Jefferson Agricul-
tural Society.” The proposition
made to this body to hold a Fair
and exhibit the products of their
farms met the approval of all the
members.

They held the first Fair in the
barn of a hotel near Norristown
called, “The Fox Chase Inn.” For
a few years following the first exhi-
bition, it was held alternately at
Penn Square and Jeffersonville. As
a result of the large attendance,
these events were very successful
financially and warranted the pur-
chase of land for the erection of
buildings thereon as a permanent
location for holding their Fair.

Four acres were purchased at
Spring-town near Norristown, at
the intersection of Germantown
and DeKalb Street Pike, where
every provision was made for an
agricultural exhibition. In 1850,
they changed the name to *“The
Montgomery County Agricultural
Socfety.” In the year 1859, the



attendance at the Fair was very
large, as we ave informed from an
ftem published in a paper circulated
at the Fair. The following item ap-
pears in an issue dated October 7,
1859; “On the third day of the exhi-
bition, the attendance at the Fair
was immensely large, estimated
from 13,000 to 15,000, We would
think the number was nearer the
latter. At all events there was a
living sea of humanity all day mov-
ing to and fro."”

A split then arose in the organi.
zation and as a result two societies
were formed. One retaihed the
name of ‘Agritultural Soctety of
Montgomery County” and contin.
ued to hold an annual Fair at
Spring-town until it moved to Am-
bler in 1870. The other took the
name “East Pennsylvania Agricul-
tural 8§ ‘fety” and organized July
4, 1866, purchased twenty acres in
Norristown at the corner of Stan-
bridge and Marshall Sts, and held
an exhibition at this location every
year until it disbanded in 1877.

On October 8, 1868, all the pro-
perty at Spring-town was sold at a
public sale, which included, accord-
ing to the advertisement, a large
frame building, comprising the hall
and its wings, Secretary and Treas-
urer's office, music stand, judges
stand, sheds, floral tent, and 10,000
feet of lumber. In the meantime,
plans were being made for the pur-
chase of land in Ambler where the
future Fairs of the Society were io
be held. Efforts were made to
have it held in Lansdale or North
Wales. However, influential mem-
bers interested in Ambler real es-
tate won their cause.

Thirty-five acres were purchased
in Ambler, April 1870, and included
all the section in the second ward
when the town became a Borough.
It was bounded by Rosemary Ave-
nue, J.emon, Church, and Spring
Garden Streets, as these streets
exist today.

After the first exhibition, which
was held in the fall of the same
year, they realized they had no out-
let to the Bethlehem Pike or the
railroad and that the public and pat-
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rons of the Fair were obliged to
trespass on private property in or-
der to have access to the enclosed
grounds. It was vitally necessary
to have an outlet to these two
main arteries of travel. For this
purpose, they purchased 88 perches
of land from Alexander Niblock at
a cost of $440.00 the following April,
1871, thus gaining an outlet to the
Bethlehem Pike. DBut the raflroad
had to be reached, also, and in
September, they bought an acre
and forty perches from George
Knight for $162.00.

The second exhibition was held
September 21 and 22, 1871. The
“Hatboro Spirit” in an issue of the
previous month stated “the
grounds in Ambler were being put
in order for the coming fair which
will be held there,” and {n the
same paper a week after it was
held said, “Although the grounds
were unimproved the fair held in
Ambler was a great success, and
had an attendance of 5000 to G000
persons.”

The advertisement in the news.
papers was as follows: “The 26th
anniversary of the Montgomery
County Agricultural Society will
be held in Ambler. This gives cre-
dence to their recognition as the
original society which was orgau-
fzed in Spring Town in 1845.”

The villuge of Ambler now show-
ed much prosperity; three good
houses were built near the station;
Wampole bought the hotel near
the rajlroad which had been built
the previous year by William Lu-
gar. He advertised “that he was
getting ready to accommodate the
people who came to the fair and
that he had sheds to shelter forty
horses. Also ample room for any
number of carriageg.” He named
the building “The Ambler Park
Hotel” and provided a hall on the
second floor of the sheds, which
held 200 persons. Its entrance was
on Short street. “Yerkes Hall,” as
it became known, was named after
a son-in-law of Lugar. For many
vears {t was used for lectures and

public gatherings and {s distinc-



tive as the first public hall in the competition among tlleni due to

borough.

The home life of the rzsidents
was materially affected in antici-
pation of the coming event, “the
Exhibition Week.” Great prepara-
tions were made by them many
weeks preparatory to its grand
opening for the entertainment of
friends and relatives who resided
far away and were expected to
visit them during the week of great
oxcitement,

It wasg a great event—this Coun-
ty Fair held in Ambler—bringing
thousands of people. It is of in-
torest to us of the later generation
to recall some of its associations.

A large part of the 35 acres pur- ’
chased was enclosed with a board
fence six feet high, nearly all of
which was whitewashed. There
were {wo entrances, one on the
Bethlehem pike and the other one
on the west side. This latter en-
trance was a short distance north
of Orange avenue where the sta-
tion was at that time located. In
this enclosure, a race tract of one-
half mile was provided for the
races. On the location of the pres-
ent Church street, hox stalls were
erected. The stables, blacksmith
shop and carriage sheds were on
this street from Rosemary avenue
to the Knight property.

There were geveral houses erect-
ed in the enclosed grounds for ex-
hibition purposes. One, called the
“Blue House” because it was
painted blue, was the administra-
tion building. It contained all the
paraphernalin connected with the
races and offices for the mana-
gers’ business transactions, and
bedrooms for the caretakers.

A grandstand was buflt 141x34
feet to seat those who witnessed
the races. Opposite the stand was
the main bufiding, “The exhibition
building,” the main feature of the
fair outside of the races as it con-
tained innumerable exhibits. In
1873, they erected a building 200
feet long and 24 feet wide in which
they exhibited the machinery.

The second floor of the exhibi.
tion building contained the exhib-
its of the women. There was keen
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the large premiums in money offer-
ed for the bhest haked cake or loaf
of hread., or preserved fruit. The
display of ncedlework was espec-
jally attractive, A patchwork
quilt of 8400 pieces, the work of
the mother of Dr. A. D. Markley
of Hathoro, won great praise,

Many articles used by us inour
every-day occupation were exhibh-
fted for the first time at the Am-
bler fair. The bicycle in those
days was a novelty and the offer
of $100 for the winner in a bhicycle
race brought a great crowd on the
day it took place. Machinery at-
tracted people from far distant sec-
tions of the country. They could
not he convinced that the machine
they saw at the Ambler fair could
thresh grain and at the same time
throw the straw into bundles, and
anaother that would mark two rows
and drop the corn at equal dis-
tance and at the same time cover
it with soil sufficient for its growth.

The scarcity of timber was a ser-
jfous matter to the farmers in these
days of the Fair, and a correspond-
ent once said, “The barbed-wire
exhibited, a substitute for rails for
fencing, was well worth a trip to
the Ambler Fair.”

There was also a flower show
egual to similar shows of the pres.-
ent day held in suburban sections.
A record says, “There was an clab.
orate stone grotto built at great ex-
pense and in the midst of the cpen-
ing surrounded by a wall, a foun-
tainthrew up great jets of water to
the celling, and on the side of the
wall there was an artificial spray
which was most beautiful.” An at.
tractive feature close to the foun-
tain threw up great jets of water to
Liberty, three feet in height, dress.
ed magnificently in the three na-
tional colors, “stunning in loveli-
ness’” the record said.

All the sports known at that time
were to be seen at the fair grounds.
Four carrier pigeons were noted
and then tossed in the air. Ruu-
ning races, broad jumps, and track
meets were held with prizes for
the winners. A prize of $7 was giv-
en to a hoy not over 17 years whe



could prove in a plowing contest
that he was capable to do that
work.

Premjums were offered for pet
animals exhibited. A rabbit one
year old ~alued at. $200 won a
prize. Quantities of fruit and veg-
etables v.ere exhibited in the effort
o win a premfum in money.

The fair was a popular event in
fts early years. Special trains
from Philadelphia with the reduc-
ed fare of fifty cents for the round
Arip brought great crowds. The
railroad company laid a double
track on its road as far as Ambler
in 1873 in order to accommodalte
the patrons of the fair.

The gate receipts for
were $2000, and the grandstand
took in $300 from witnesses of the
races. The usual atendance was
from 5000 to 6000. In 1873, it was
claimed to be 13,000, which made
possible the payment of $14,500 in
premfums. The large attendance
on two occastions was attributed to
the presence of (overnors Hart-
ranft and Beaver, who were enthu-
siastically received.

The horse racing was the attrac-
tion to many. In 1872, the adver-
tisement read as follows: *“The
Montgomery County Agricultural
Society on its grounds in. Ambler
has the best race track in the State
and the coming exhibition will he
without exception the higheat
toned one ever held in Pennsyl-
and the competitions will be open-
vania, and competitions will be
opened to the world.”

In that year 140 horses were ex-
hibited, 70 of these or the bvest
trotting stock. A premium of $300
wasg glven to the best four-in-hand
trot of high bred horses to a drag
carrying four persons.

The fair was a financial success
untfl 1876 when the interest bhegan
to decline, due fn part to the at.
tractior:s offered by the centennial
held in° Philadelphia in
Vital causes, however, were the
dissensions which arose among the
officers and active workers, and
the resignation of many of these
from the organization because of
their objection to the introduction
of the sale of intoxicating liquors
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one day -

that year.

on the grounds, the prominence of
gambling in the racing field, and
disapproval of the method of
awarding premiums,

The last exhibit of any merit
wag in 1879. The local press at
that time said, “The fair at Ambler
was not a financial success. Few
were present either from indiffer-
ence or lack of interest.”

An exhibit of small pretensions
was held in 1881, The last thing
chronicled as a part of the fair was
in 1882 +when an advertisement
read: “A great event will take
place on the fair grounds in Am-
bler between some of the greatest
race horses in the world.”

The sensation of that day was
the discovery of a local horse cap-
able of trotting a mile in 2.31 the
first time he was put on the track.
The story goes that Black Frank
had recently been bought at Isaac
Tyson’s horse sale for $167.00. His
owner had no knowledge of the
speed of which he was capable,
but put him on the track in a race
with a pony in hopes of winning a
wager on the race, when the dis-
covery of his record was made. A8
a result of this, he was at once pur-
chased by a well known race horses
trainer for $3500. However, a few
days later, Black Frank dled of
lock jaw as a result of having pick-
ed up a splinter on the track. His
death was a great loss, financially,
to hifs owner and a disappointment
to the racing world.

In this year, the grounds ceased
to give the public entertainment as
sponsored by the Agricultural So-
clety. It served however, to be a
public factor for the community be-
cause of other events held there.

On June 10, 1886, the Historical
societies of Bucks and Montgoinery
Countfes held a joint meeting on
the grounds, bringing together 800
people. On this occasion, twelve
papers were read and an elaborate
musical program was presented.

The grounds were a favorite
place for Sunday school picnics
trom Phfladelphia and elsewhere.
On August 13, 1874, a memorable
event of this nature took place when
the Baptist Church of Ambler held



its annual picnic which 2000 people
attended. The Ministerial Union of
Ambler and vicinity, which was
promoted by Rev. Lyman Powell for
good fellowship and discussion of
topics relative to Christian work,
first organized at meetings held in
the Blue House, The Wissahickon
Grange No. 760 held its meetings in
one of the buildings, which it rent-
ed from June 5, 1881 to Dec, 5, 1884,
a few weeks after it was organized
at the home of Jacob and Sarah
Rex. An event held on the grounds
which rivalled the attendance of
any day of exhibition was a com-
bined meeting of the Granges from
several adjoining counties.

The Ambler Country Club leased
the Blue House and after extensive
interior alterations, involving an
expense of $1260, utilized
their meetings which were princi-
pally of a social nature.

During the years the grounds
were used for these popular events,
every effort was made by the stock-
holders of the company to make a
sale of the property in order to re-
cover the money they invested for
the operation of the Fair. A sale
was finally made to John Turner at
the expiration of a five year lease
he previously had on the property.
While the amount of money realized
from this sale was ample to pay off
the bonds of first mortgages held
by a few individuals against the
land, it was not sufficient in amount
to make any returns to the stock-
holders for their investment.

Turner was a well known train-
er of race horses, and the one-half
mile track which was included in
his purchase, served him a good
purpose in his business career. He
went out of business in the . year
1904. During these intervening
years there was a gradual disappear-
ance of all the landmaixs of the
Ambler Fair Grounds.

One of the buildings was sold to
Albert Shaw, who moved it to his
own property on Park avenue where
he conducted a business for the re-
pair of carriages, machinery, etc,
During the later ownership of the
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buifding by Harvey Dager and Chas.
Gerhart, it was utilized for the sale
and storage of furniture.

The blacksmith shop became the
property of Clifford Martin which
he-also removed to his own land on
Lindenwold avenue near Green-
wood. The Blue House and the one
ifn which the trainer of the horses
lived were converted into modern
dwelling houses, later owned by
Richard Murfit and Walter Wentz,
on Trinity and Rosemary avenues,

The administration building—
standing for many years, was the
last one to disappear. Turner took
out the ground floor, removed the
partitions and used it for sheltering
his horses. The upstairs was used
as a play house for his children. A
large portion of the building and
part of the sheds used for shelter-
ing the horses, which extended on
Church street from Rose.nary ave-
nue to the Knight track, were al-
most completely destroyed in the
cyclone of 1896. The remaining por-
tion of the building was later struck
by lightning and completely con-
sumed.

Thomas Gillen purchased a large
portion of the old lumber at a sale
of the Turner property. A sale of
the ground was gradually made by
Turner when he went out of bus-
iness. Dr. R. V. Mattison bought
the portion known as the centre
fleld because it was the enclosure
around the race track later used as
a ball field.

The portion unsold at the time
of Turner’s death in 1912 was cut
into building lots and divided
among his eight children.

The following were the officers
of the Fair in its later years: Pres,,
Dr. Miltor Newberry; vice pres-
ident, Charles D. Norton; treasurer
David Dunnet; rec. sec., Jos. Rex;
sec., Daniel Williams. Home Depart-
ment: Pres., Hannah Jones, Jarret-
town; vice pres., Mrs. Dr. New-
berry; rec. sec.,, Miss Annie Keisel,
Ambler; corres, sec.,, Mary Streep-
er, Broad Axe. Managers: Eliza
Ambler, Ambler; Mary Stackhouse,
Chestnut Hill; Lizzie Walmsley, of



Hatboro; Sally Styer, Norristown;

Sally Conard, Whitemarsh; Miss
Zell, Conshohocken; DMrs. QGeorge
Wolf, Plymouth; Mrs. Lee Garri-
gues, Jarrettown; Miss Emily
Hetrick, of Whitemarsh,

Chronological Table of Events;

200 Years of History of
Ambler 1682 - 1888

1682 Territory later Ambler Boro
bought by Willilam Harmer.
Built grist mill and fulling
mill on his tract of 408 acres.
First road, now Mt. Pleasant
Avenue, laid out for public
travel to reach Wm. Har-
mer’'s mills. Later extended
to present Fort Washington
locality.

1733—William Harmer died. All of
Harmer's tract bought by
Morris Morris.

Butler avenue confirmed by
the Court as a public high-
way.

Church St. confirmed by the
Court for public travel to
reach Burks Mill on the Mor-
ris Road.

First house in Borough land
opened for public accommo-
dation by Isaac Davis, on the
Bethlehem Pike.

Original tract of 408 acres
divided. John Stevens
bought 84 acres and grist
mill.

Daniel Morris, son of sorris
Morris, took title to the full-
ing mill and 89 acres at the
death of his father.

Morris road confirmed by
the Court for public travel
through a petition of Samuel
Morris and others.

Grist mill bought by Joseph
Morris, no relative of M.
Morris, from John Stevens.
Joseph Detwiler bought grist
mill and 84 acres from J.
Morris road.
Wertsners Mill
road erected.
Mill built by John Burk on
Morris road “gone to decay.”
New mill bullt by Jacob
Reiff on Morris road.

Jacob Ulrich deeded 79 acres

1730

1739

1744

1758

1759

1763

1771

1775

1778 on Morris

1784

1789

62

1790

1799

1800

1810

1832

1843

1860

1863

1866

1856

now in second ward, to the
Acuft family. Later pur-
chased and developed by the
Ambler Real Estate and De-
velopment Co. On this tract
stands the house owned by
Radcliffe.

Jonathan Thomas establish-
ed a tannery at Gilky's Cor-
ner and also the first under-
taking business in Upper
Dublin Twp.

Dr. Archibald McClean
drowned while fording the
Wissahickon creek at the
Butler Avenue intersection.
He was the first physician in
Upper Dublin.

Dr. George Thomas opened
an office in Ambler.

Tannery at Gilky's Corner
sold to James Rutter. Bradis
family built Clover Mill at
Butler avenue and Spring
Garden St,

Tract of 82 acres, owned by
Arthur Bradis, on which the
fulling mill and clover mill
stood, sold to Andrew Am-

bler. Clover Mill and 36
acres later sold to Isaac
Thomas.

Jos. Reiftf bought grist mill
on Butler Ave. at intersec-
tion with Wissahickon.
Tannery at Gilky’'s Corner
gsold to Alvin Faust.

Butler Avenue incorporated
as a turnpike by an act of
Assembly.

Formal opening of the Rail-
road through this section,
July 2. First impetus to the
prosperity of the locality.

July 17, the great railroad
accident near Fort Washing-
ton.

George Knight purchased
land from Church St. to But-
ler Avenue on both sides of
Reudroad. Sold land for a
bank, coal yard, and store

-for sale of general merchan-

digse. First to f«vlop the lo-
cality of the B)rcagh where
he made his purcchase. Barn
on this property, built by



18568

1860

1862

1867

1868

1868

1869

1870

John Everart, dated 1789.

Toll gate placed on Butler
Avenue, west side of rail-
road, for collection of toll.

Toll gate erccted on east
side of Rallroad.

Burk’s Mill on Mc- 5 Road
ceased grinding. 1lung race
and fall of but 6 feet of wa-
ter on the wheel made it ex-
pensive to operate. All other
mills in locality operated
more than 20 years more.

Eberhard Flues started a
woolen factory in the aban-
doned grist miil built by
John Burk on Morris road.

Mary Ambler died August 8.

First real estate develop-
ment; Jonathan Lukens on
West side of Butler Avenue,
and Charles Shoemaker on
East. Jonathan Lukens start-
ed coal and lumber yard on
Main St. near the station.

July 20, name of station
changed from Wissahickon
to Ambler.

Post office moved from Isaac
Thomas' store on Bethlehem
Pike, to Joseph Wilson's
store, corner of Butler ave-
nue and Main St.

1870—1880 Montgomery County Ag-

1872

1874
1878

1881

ricultural Society held in Am-
bler.

The Methodist Church of Jar-
rettown organized a mission in
Ambler.

Flues woolen mill closed.

The toll gate on West gide of
raflroad abandoned and the
two gates consolidated on East
side. Toll gate on east side
closed by the Court for collec-
tion of toll January 20, 1890.
Burned one month later.
Gilky’s corner changed {ts
name to Rose Valley.
Baptists built a chapel on lot
purchased fn 1873.

An attempt made by the Pres-
byterian Church to start a mis-
sion.

Era of grist mills began to de-
cline. A renaissance of indus.
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try; Keasbey & Mattison mov-
ed their plant to Ambler from
Philadelphia.
First copy of Ambler Gazette
published, Deccember 1.
Independent School District
organized.
First drug store in DBorough
opened by Mr. Reickard at
corner of Main and Walnut
Sts.
Thomson’s Mill on Mt. Pleas-
ant Avenue ceased grinding.
Reiff’'s Mill on Butler Avenue
closed.
J. Watson Craft bought coal
yard on Main St. near station
established by Jonathan Lu-
kens in 1866.
Board walk laid from Main St.
to station. ILocality provided
with lights. Residents organ-
fzed ‘the lamp assoclation”
supported by voluntary con-
tributions. Unsatisfactory. Af-
ter one year the following re-
port of expenses was given:
For new lamps, matches,
posts, payment of wages,
$128.76; received by contri-
butions, $109.95; by credit
for empty barrels, $4.85;
overdrawn, $13.95,
Emmanuel Methodist church
(colored) moved their house
of worship on wheels from
Penllyn where it was located
to Ambler, in a section later
Poplar St.
Methodist Episcopal church or-
ganized in James Morris house
on Race St.
Edmund Plumly opened his
new store at corner of Race &
Main St. Employed four clerks.
Hall on second floor to accom-
modate 400 persons.
Corner stone of St. Anthony's
church lafd April 11,
Presbyterian church and Sun-
day school organized in Plum-
ly’s Hall.
First fire in Ambler, July 8th.
In one hour, the home of The-
dore Quinty on Chestnut St.,
as later located, was com-
pletely consumed. The resi-
dents called a meeting to con-



1887

sider ways whereby in the fu-
ture the residents could be
protected from a similar dis-
aster.

Ambler connected with the out
side worid by telephone. The

Delaware & Atlantic telephone.

Co. placed an exchange in
Refckard’s Drug Store. Five
subscribers,
Hague’'s Mill on Bethlehem
Pike, the last of the nine iIn
the land later the Borough, to
cease grinding.
Meeting for fire protection
held. 100 residents subscribed
$5.00 each which gave a work-
ing capital of $500. With this
they purchased hose and pipe
connected with Keasbey &
Mattison Co. works which had
an adequate supply of water.
Meeting of lamp association
held Nov. 1. Decided to merge
with a company about to or-
ganize (o light the village with
electricity through a current
supplied by Keasbey & Mat-
tison.
Anna Jane Mercer purchased
the grist mill erected by Wm.
Harmer and demolished it
later.
Meeting held in April to dis-
cuss incorporating the locality
as & Borough. First definite
step taken Nov. 22. Following
call addressed to the people:
“A large number of the res-
idents of the village are de.
sirous of having some propor-
tionate return for the taxes

Facsimile of

Dec.

1888

pald out annually and belleve
the most economical plan
would be to Iincorporate our
village into a Borough, which
under conservative manage-
ment would not materially in-
crease our present tax rate,
and yet would yfeld lasting im-
provement and give our town
many permanent advantages,
and add greatly to the value
of property throughout the
place.

“A meeting will be held in
Buchanan Hall at the corner
of Main St. and Butler Avenue
Tuesday evenjug, Nov. 22, 1887
when a proposed plan will be
submitted for which your ad-
vice and endorsemeont is ask-
ed. Believing such action
necessary for the best Inter-
ests of our community.”

Very truly,
J. J. Houghton,
R. V. Mattison,
H. G. Keasbey,
J. 8. Buchanan,

1 Borough assocfation met in
Buchanan Hall with H. G.
Keasbey in chair. Motion
made that the committee be
authorized to take legal steps
to have an incorporated Boro,
by a petition to the Court, and
that a survey be made.
Ambler incorporated as a
Boro June 16. First meeting of
Council held Sept. 7 in office
of Wertsner & Buchanan on
Main St. between Butler ave-
nue and Race St.

Signature
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